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YESTERDAY

Founded on the prospect of promoting life-long wellness, 

Eu Yan Sang harnesses the strength of Traditional Chinese 

Medicine to benefit others. It was 130 years ago that 

the company’s founder, Eu Kong, started his first shop in 

Gopeng, Perak, Malaysia. 

The shop was called Yan Sang, which means 

‘caring for mankind’. Though the Group has come a long 

way from its humble beginnings, it continues with its 

original mission of ‘caring for mankind’.



1870s 
Founder, eu kong, leaves his hometown of Foshan 
in guangdong, southern China to Malaysia.

1879 
the first shop named ‘yan sang’ opens in gopeng, 
perak, Malaysia; providing quality Chinese herbs 
and medicines.

1890s 
eu kong’s eldest son, eu 
tong sen, inherits the family 
business.

1900s
eu yan sang (eys) begins 
operations in singapore, 
hong kong and China.

1989
richard eu joins eys. he modernises the 
traditional Chinese Medicine (tCM) business and 
its operations.

1990s
eys embarks on a new brand identity and revamps 
its store design and product packaging.

2000
eys is publicly listed on sgX mainboard 
and named eu yan sang international 
limited (eysi).

2001
eys starts its first tCM Clinic in Malaysia, 
followed by singapore, to offer tCM 
consultation and treatments.

2008
launch of eu yan sang good Agronomic practices for herbs (eysgAp-
herbs) Certification scheme. 

opened the first tCM integrative Medical Centre in hong kong.

2009   

eys celebrates its 130th birthday with a series of events to mark this 
special occasion. 

eys is constantly improving, ensuring higher quality and assurance on 
safe products and services for the benefit of mankind.

2002
hong kong manufacturing facility is the first 
tCM manufacturer to receive the ‘Certificate of 
Manufacturing Facility’ from tgA Australia.

2006
opening of new manufacturing centre at 
yuen long, hong kong. eys invests in modern 
equipment and advanced technology.

launch of health Cité, a wellness and 
lifestyle centre, in Malaysia.



TODAY

Eu Yan Sang is a household name in Asia with an 

unrivalled reputation as the leader in the Traditional 

Chinese Medicine industry. The Group is focused 

on quality and innovation to ensure its products 

meets the need of today’s discerning consumers. 

By using science, research and development and 

state of the art technology, the Group has brought

its business into the 21st century.

130Th AnnIvERSARY CElEBRATIOn

         

to celebrate its 130th anniversary, eu yan sang has commenced a year-long effort to create a better tomorrow for 

the people of Asia. this involves engaging in many activities to raise money for charity and to provide comfort to 

people in need. While the company cherishes its past, its true purpose is to improve the quality of life and the health 

of future generations. 

eu yan sang kick started its 130th Anniversary celebration with a community project, gala dinner in kuala lumpur, 

Malaysia which helped raised over rM1 million for the tunku Azizah Fertility Foundation (tAFF). this is followed 

by the singapore launch of “path of the righteous Crane – the life and legacy of eu tong sen” – a book and 

exhibition on the life of the man who first extended the eu business empire across the region. the exhibition was 

held at the national library Building, and both projects are supported by the national heritage Board’s heritage; 

industry incentive programme. professor tommy koh, Ambassador-At-large, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Chairman 

of the institute of policy studies and the national heritage Board was the guest of honour for the event. 

More such community projects and events will be rolled out across the region throughout the year, including a 

Charity Walk in singapore and an exhibition on eu yan sang in hong kong.



E u  ya n  s a n g  i n t E r n a t i o n a l  lt d  |  A N N u A L  R E P o R T  2 0 0 9 1

our vision

To be a global consumer healthcare company with a focus on Traditional Chinese 

Medicine and Integrative Healthcare.

our Mission

To care for mankind by helping our customers realise good life-long health.

our values

Humanity  : Always reflect respect for human life and care for its well being

Quality : offer the highest quality standards in the industry

Progress : Seek opportunities to produce new consumer healthcare products 

   and services

Leadership : Stay ahead in every aspect of the TCM industry
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Listed on the Singapore Exchange since 2000, Eu Yan Sang is a progressive consumer 

healthcare brand built around commitment to provide product excellence and innovation 

in Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM). The company markets fine quality Chinese herbs, 

Chinese proprietary medicines as well as health food supplements through more than 

150 Eu Yan Sang branded retail stores in Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore, Macau and 

China, and its network of third party distribution channels. Manufacturing activities are 

carried out in two GMP (Good Manufacturing Practice) Certified factories in Hong Kong 

and Malaysia. The Group also operates a chain of 20 TCM clinics and one Integrative 

Medical Centre.

By monitoring consumer trends and investing in research and development,  

Eu Yan Sang continuously improves its products and services to meet changing  

lifestyle needs.



on behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present our annual report for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2009.                                 

 

the year in review 

Weathering the Storm

2008 was a year of global financial turmoil. Stock markets around the world crashed, 

banks and financial institutions collapsed and unemployment rates rose precipitously 

in our core markets. Despite the dampened consumer sentiment resulting from these 

challenges, the Group weathered the economic downturn and produced a record set of 

results for FY2009 not just in revenue, but also in operating profit and cash flow.

 

Record annual operating profit in FY2009

The Group’s revenue increased 7% to S$222.5 million, we achieved a record annual 

operating profit of S$18.9 million, and net profit soared 165% to S$13.1 million. 

 

These achievements were the result of our customers’ confidence and trust in the quality 

of our products, continued discriminating expansion of our product range as well as the 

Group’s management and staff’s commitment and conscientious efforts to control costs 

at all levels in the anticipation of challenging market conditions in a difficult year. our 

decision to focus on consolidating our core Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) business 

also paid dividends in allowing us to concentrate our resources and management attention 

on areas which gave us solid returns. 

This sterling set of results for the Group made our 130th anniversary all the more 

meaningful. 

 

vision & Growth

130 Years of Caring for Humanity

Eu Yan Sang was established in 1879 with the noble vision of caring for mankind.  

For 130 years, we have adhered to this founding principle.  We continuously 

strive to provide high quality products and services through constant upgrading 

and improvement in all aspects of our delivery – from sourcing of raw materials 

and manufacturing, to marketing and operating our retail stores and clinics. 

From the humble beginnings of a simple grocery store offering TCM herbal 

remedies to tin mine workers in Gopeng in Perak, Malaysia, we have grown to 

become one of the largest TCM healthcare companies in Southeast Asia.
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Expansion in FY2009                                                                 

The Group continued to expand its product range, introducing new products such as anti-

flu formulas and herbal beverages. our retail network grew to 154 with a net increase 

of 10 outlets in FY2009. This represents the eighth year of consecutive growth since the 

Group’s listing in 2000.  The Group also opened an Integrative Medical Centre (IMC) 

in Hong Kong, combining both Western medical and TCM consultation.  In Malaysia, 

we established sub-brand “Yen” and “Honey Mart” outlets that specialize in bird’s nest 

products and honey products respectively.

 

infusing science into tradition

What has differentiated Eu Yan Sang in the TCM business has been our attention to 

applying modern technology, and scientific rigor and methodology to ensure the quality 

and authenticity of our products.    

In the previous year, the Group had initiated the world’s first certification standard for TCM 

herbs.  Known as the “Eu Yan Sang Good Agronomic Practices for Herbs (EYSGAP-Herbs) 

Certification Scheme”, this certification ensures world-class benchmarks are maintained 

at all stages in the growing, processing and retailing of TCM herbs.  The safety controls at 

all points throughout the supply chain ensures food safety and traceability.

 

This has been coupled with the development of a new integrated online portal to keep 

track of TCM herbs throughout the whole value chain.  This new online portal – “integrated 

Good Agronomic Practice for Traditional Chinese Medicine Electronic System” (iGATES) 

– is another world’s first to track the herbs from “seed to shelf”, integrating EYSGAP-

Herbs with the advanced chemical and genomic fingerprinting technologies used in our 

manufacturing processes.

 

In line with the Group’s commitment to an evidence-based approach, we have 

collaborated with Nanyang Polytechnic (NYP) to set up a laboratory for TCM research 

and development. The laboratory’s first project, amongst several others planned, is a 

purified and re-concentrated version of red yeast rice extract, a popular Asian traditional 

food supplement believed to lower blood cholesterol. We have filed a patent for the 

extraction process and are now working to develop and manufacture the product on a 

commercial scale.

 

our goal in embracing such technologies is to scientifically validate the authenticity 

and credibility of our products. In addition to the competitive advantages enjoyed in 

Chairman’s Message

E u  ya n  s a n g  i n t E r n a t i o n a l  lt d  |  A N N u A L  R E P o R T  2 0 0 9 3



Chairman’s Message

holding such intellectual properties, the successful fusion of both innovative methods 

and traditional heritage places EYS as a progressive and forward-thinking company 

looking to enter the realm of mainstream consumer healthcare.

Growth Direction 

In the next financial year, the Group will continue to work on improving same store 

retail sales and clinic revenues, and grow our product range by developing relevant 

new products to suit today’s consumers, including exploring new TCM and health food 

products through scientific research and collaborations. We envisage that expanding our 

presence in our newer markets, in particular in China, will be an important component 

of our growth strategy into the future.   

 

We are mindful that retail statistics in our core markets remain conservative. As such, 

the Group will adopt a prudent and cautious approach in seeking new opportunities 

for continuing growth, and continue to exercise prudence in cost management in the 

coming year.

 

Appreciation to all stakeholders of eu yan sang

Rewarding Stakeholders

With our set of healthy results in FY2009, I am pleased to announce that the Board of 

Directors is proposing a final dividend of 1 cent and a special dividend of 1.2 cents for 

a total of 2.2 cents per share to reward our shareholders, an increase of 10% over the 

dividends paid out in FY2008.  The proposed dividends are subject to the approval of our 

shareholders to be obtained during the upcoming Annual General Meeting.

 

In conclusion, I would like to express our appreciation to our shareholders and stakeholders 

- customers, business partners, bankers, associates and suppliers to the Group. on behalf 

of the Board, I would also like to thank our management and staff for their resilience and 

diligence. With continued support from all our stakeholders and commitment from our 

management and staff, Eu Yan Sang looks forward to bringing care to mankind for another 

130 years and beyond.

 

Jennifer lee

Chairman

18 Sep 2009 
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operations Review

overview 

In spite of a difficult financial year plagued by the global financial crisis and  

economic recession. Group revenue rose by 7% to S$222.5 million for the year ended 

30th June 2009. 

Gross margin improved by 1 percent to 51.1% from better efficiency amongst the Group’s 

retail, wholesale and manufacturing facilities.

Despite higher distribution and selling expenses, in particular higher rental for lease 

renewal and higher staff costs to support the additional retail outlets and clinics, profit for 

the year surged 165% to S$13.1 million with the absence of impairment charges on plant 

& equipment, investment and losses incurred on discontinued operations.

Net cash provided by operating activities improved by S$23.5 million to S$30.8 million 

mainly due to higher turnover and better management of inventory. The Group ended the 

financial year with a net gearing ratio of 2%.



turnover by Geographical locations

In local currency terms, Malaysia revenue surged 19% to MYR145.1 million as a result 

of focused marketing on flagship products and a wider product range.  Revenues in 

Singapore and Hong Kong posted growth of 4% and 1% respectively to S$62.4 million 

and HK$522.3 million. Hong Kong revenue growth was affected by the 50% decrease in 

exports to China.

turnover by Activities

Retail revenue increased 8% to S$174.1 million and remained the largest business 

segment contributing to 78.3% of Group revenue.  

operations Review
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Wholesale revenue decreased by 1% due to the delay in exports to China owing to a 

license renewal issue which was resolved only in 4QFY2009.

Clinic revenue improved 5% to S$14.3 million.  The Group set up its first integrative 

medical centre in Hong Kong, combining both Western medical and TCM consultation.

retail statistics

The total number of outlets increased by 10 in FY2009.  Amongst the new outlets, besides 

the traditional Eu Yan Sang brand retail outlets, the Group has added 5 sub-brand outlets, 

namely, 4 Honey Mart outlets and 1 Yen outlet.  The Honey Mart outlets specialize in 

honey products while the Yen outlet in bird’s nest products. All of them are in Malaysia.

The Group aims to continue its retail expansion at a similar pace while taking into 

consideration the changing economic environment and market situation.

retail outlets in Geographical locations

Macau PRC SG HK MY   As at end FY09
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same store sales     sales Per square Foot

top 5 Products by revenue

Product name Purpose
Fy09

(s$’m)
Fy08

(s$’m) % change

Bo Ying Compound Infants' health 25.4 19.6 30

Bottled Bird’s Nest General health 
maintenance

21.8 19.5 12

Bak Foong Pills Women's health, 
nourishes blood and Qi

14.7 14.1 4

Lingzhi Cracked 
Spores

Improves immunity 8.8 8.8 -

Essence of Chicken General health 
maintenance

6.1 6.1 -

ToTAL 76.8 68.1 13

FY08
FY09

Malaysia (MYR)

3,855 4,159

2,039

Singapore (S$)

2,008

15,715

Hong Kong (HK$)

15,806

operations Review

FY08
FY09 358.3

1%

Hong Kong (HK$’m)

360.4

37.6

Singapore (S$’m)

37.8

1%

Malaysia (MYR’m)

105.7 114.0

8%
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Sales for Bo Ying Compound surged 30% to S$25.4 million and cemented itself as the top 

selling product. This is the third consecutive year of growth in revenue for this product 

since its license in China was renewed in FY2007.

Sales of Bottled Bird’s Nest improved 12% to S$21.8 million as a result of the successful 

introduction of new variant and acceptance of this product by younger consumers.

Sales of Bak Foong Pills increased by 4% to S$14.7 million from the successful promotional 

effort in various markets.  The Group distributes this product to over 7,000 hospitals and 

drug stores in China.

Sales of Lingzhi Cracked Spores Capsules and Essence of Chicken products maintained 

at S$8.8 million and S$6.1 million respectively.  Effective advertising and promotional 

efforts has enabled Essence of Chicken products to remain within the top-5 selling 

products since FY2007.

The Group will continue to introduce about 10 new products every year to diversify and 

increase its revenue.
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Financial Highlights
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Board of Directors

Dr JenniFer lee  Non-Executive Chairman

Dr Jennifer Lee was appointed as the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board on 9 

April 2007. Dr Lee has been an Independent Director since 7 July 2000. She serves 

as the Chairman of the Compensation Committee and as a member to the Audit and 

Nominating Committees.

Dr Lee is a graduate of the medical faculty of the then Singapore university, and 

subsequently obtained her MBA from National university of Singapore. She began her 

career in healthcare in the practice of medicine in her first several years post graduation, 

moving subsequently into healthcare management at the Ministry of Health. She was Chief 

operating officer in the Singapore General Hospital, in which capacity she was involved 

in its corporatisation, and subsequently moved on to become CEo of KK Women’s and 

Children’s Hospital for 13 years from 1991. She was a Nominated Member of Parliament 

from 1999 to 2004.

richArD eU  Group Chief Executive Officer

Richard Eu, Group CEo, is responsible for the overall corporate development and 

management of the EYS Group. Prior to this, he worked in merchant banking, investment 

management, stock broking, computer distribution and venture capital before becoming 

the Group General Manager of Eu Yan Sang Holdings Ltd (EYSH) in 1989. EYSH was 

the owner of the Eu Yan Sang business in Singapore and Malaysia at that time. In 1993, 

Richard organised a management buyout of the business and in 1996 it was merged with 

the Eu Yan Sang business in Hong Kong, forming the Eu Yan Sang International Group, as 

it is today.

Richard is an Independent Director of Broadway Industrial Group Limited, the Chairman 

of the Governing Council of Singapore Institute of Management and Harry’s Holdings 

Limited. Richard graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in Law from London university, uK. 

Apart from his business interests, he is also involved in community projects and non-

profit organisations.
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cliFForD eU  Managing Director & Executive Vice President, International

Clifford Eu, Managing Director & EVP of Eu Yan Sang International Ltd, is responsible 

for the expansion into international markets of the Group. He joined the Group in 1994. 

Prior to this, he was involved with his family’s investment holding group, overseeing 

its manufacturing and distribution operations in Singapore and Malaysia. In 1986,  

he co-founded a company, which distributes consumer health products. Clifford 

graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering from the university of 

Melbourne, Australia.

leslie MAh  Non-Executive Director

Leslie Mah was re-designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Board on 1 July 2009. 

Leslie has been our Executive Director since 3 January 2006, was responsible for group 

strategy, business developments and investor relations. Prior to that, Leslie was our 

Chief Financial officer, and was instrumental in spearheading many milestones and 

developments for Eu Yan Sang. This includes the introduction of high-end premium 

bottled bird’s nests, the inception of Eu Yan Sang Specialist TCM Centres in Singapore, 

and the restructuring of our company’s borrowings. Leslie was formerly the Executive 

Director and Company Secretary for Cerebos Pacific Limited. Also, before his tenure 

at Cerebos, he was the Finance Director of Harpers Gilfillan. Leslie is an Independent 

Non-Executive Director of Hotel Properties Limited and Goodpack Limited. He is 

also a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Leslie Mah will be due to retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting pursuant to  

Article 109 of the Company’s Article of Association. He has not offered himself for re-election.

MAlcolM AU  Independent Director

Malcolm Au was appointed to our Board as an Independent Director on 2 January 2004. 

He started his career with Campbell Soup Company in Canada. Subsequently, he was 

promoted to start Campbell’s business in the Far East as its first Managing Director. He 

was also elected to the Board of Campbell’s in Australia. In 1991, he founded Artal 

Food Industries Limited, AFI, as a partner and Managing Director. AFI invested in food 

businesses in Hong Kong, PRC, Singapore, Malaysia and Indonesia. AFI also became the 

biggest bread baking company in China. He retired in 2003. Malcolm is a Non-Executive 

Director of China-Hong Kong Photo Products Holdings Ltd, the distributor of Fuji Films in 

Hong Kong and China, and Convenience Retail Asia Ltd, the franchisee of Circle K stores 

in Hong Kong and China, both being publicly listed companies in Hong Kong. Malcolm 

holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical Engineering and a Master of Science 

degree in Food Science both from the university of Wisconsin, uSA and a Master of 

Business Administration degree from the university of Toronto, Canada.

Board of Directors
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robert eU  Non-Executive Director

Robert Eu was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of our company since 24 January 

1997. He is a Managing Director at WR Hambrecht + Co, a uS-based investment bank. 

He is also Chairman and CEo of AEX Enterprises, a Hongkong-based financial services 

firm whose main operating subsidiary is Boom Securities, a leading Hongkong online 

brokerage firm. From 1993-1998, Robert was a Managing Director of H&Q Asia Pacific, 

a leading Asian private equity firm. From 1992-1993, he was the Business Development 

Manager for Eu Yan Sang (Hong Kong) Limited. Robert was also with Citibank NA 

Hongkong. Robert graduated with a Bachelor of Arts in History from Northwestern 

university, uSA.

iAn sPence  Independent Director

Ian Spence was appointed to our Board as an Independent Director on 2 December 

2002. He is a New Zealander, a permanent resident of Singapore. He is currently an 

Independent Director of several private and public companies in Singapore. Ian is a 

Chartered Accountant and a Commerce graduate from otago university, New Zealand.

Dr DAviD eU, alternate to Richard Eu

Dr David Eu is the alternate Director to Richard Eu. He was appointed to our Board as 

an alternate Director on 24 January 1997. He is the Managing Director of Bonham Clinic 

in Singapore. Since 1987, he has been running his own private medical practice. Dr Eu 

holds a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery from St. Mary’s Hospital, London 

and a Master of Arts from oxford university, uK.

lAUrence eU, alternate to Clifford Eu

Laurence Eu is the alternate Director to Clifford Eu. He was appointed to our Board as an 

alternate Director on 24 January 1997. Laurence is the Managing Director of the Euco 

Group of companies in Malaysia, a family investment group with diverse interests in 

advertising, disposable medical products, hospital linen and food related products.

billy MA, alternate to Robert Eu

Billy Ma is the alternate Director to Robert Eu. He was appointed to our Board as an 

alternate Director on 1 February 2001. He is a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong 

Special Administrative Region, the Supreme Court of England and Wales, the Supreme 

Court of the Republic of Singapore and the Supreme Court of the Australian Capital 

Territory. He is also a Notary Public. Billy is the precedent partner of Messrs. Hobson & 

Ma, Solicitors & Notaries and Council Member of the Law Society of Hong Kong.

Board of Directors
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Senior Management

KF tan  Chief Operating Officer 

KF Tan joined Eu Yan Sang in April 2004 as our Group Financial Controller. He is now our Chief operating officer, 

responsible for the strategic and operational leadership of Eu Yan Sang’s sales, marketing, production and distribution 

of TCM and health care products. In addition, he focuses on strengthening operation efficiency within and across 

countries, and building a strong team spirit within Eu Yan Sang. KF is an associate member of The Institute of 

Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, and is also a CPA with The Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

of Singapore and The Malaysia Institute of Accountants.

Danny heng  Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Danny Heng joined Eu Yan Sang in August 2008, and is responsible for our Group’s finance, investments, IT, 

and corporate secretarial functions. Danny graduated with a Bachelor of Business Administration (Finance and 

Investment Management) from the City university of New York, and a Master of Science (Accounting and Information 

Management) from Pace university, New York. He is a CPA with the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of 

Singapore and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Danny is also a member of the Institute of 

Management Accountants, Institute of Certified Internal Auditors and Singapore Institute of Directors.

Dr Patrick h M loh bbM,PbM  Chief Scientific Officer

Dr Patrick Loh joined us in June 2007. He is responsible for the development and management of Eu Yan Sang’s 

product quality and biotechnological advances. Dr Loh currently holds adjunct professorship in the Faculty of 

Sustainability, Environmental & Life Sciences, Murdoch university, Western Australia; the School of Science & 

Technology, SIM university (uniSIM); and the Lee Kong Chian School of Business, Singapore Management 

university (SMu). In addition, he is appointed as the Visiting Fellow and Visiting Scientist in Indonesia and the 

Zhuhai Agricultural Science Research Centre, People’s Republic of China. He was a Board Director of public-listed 

PT. Citra Kebun Raya Agri in Jakarta, Indonesia, and is appointed as the President Commissioner & Chairman in 

December 2008. 

Dr Loh is the Agri-Advisor to the Agri-Food & Veterinary Authority of Singapore (AVA). He is a member of the 

Intellectual Property Management office of the Institute of Innovation & Entrepreneurship at the Singapore 

Management university. He also served on the “Think Tank” Committee for Science & Technology of the former 

National Science and Technology Board; the Environment, Health, Safety & Security Function Committee of 

Singapore Manufacturer’s Federation, the former Productivity Standard Board’s Food Standards Committee and the 

Waste Management & Recycling Association of Singapore. 

CoRPoRATE oFFICE - Eu Yan Sang International Ltd (EYSI)
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He is a qualified member of the Institute of Horticulture (MIHort), the Institute of Leisure & Amenity Management 

(MILAM) in the united Kingdom, and the Australian Institute of Agricultural Science & Technology (AIAST). He is a 

Certified Practising Agriculturist (CPAg) of Australia and New Zealand and received his doctoral research training in 

plant virology and tissue culture technology from the Institute of Arable Crops Research, united Kingdom. He also 

has a Master’s degree in Business Administration from the university of Dubuque, Iowa, uSA, and is a Full Member 

of the Singapore Institute of Directors. Dr Loh was conferred the Public Service Medal (PBM) in 2001 and the Public 

Service Star (BBM) in 2006 by His Excellency, The President of the Republic of Singapore. 

chin Gek Mei  Vice President, International Operations

Chin Gek Mei joined us in october 2006. She is responsible for the development and management of Eu Yan Sang’s 

business alliances. She graduated with a Bachelor of Science (Honours) in Actuarial Science from the university of 

Western ontario, Canada.

shally chua oon  Vice President, Human Resources

Shally Chua oon joined us in May 2009. She is responsible for human resource strategies in support of the Group’s 

business and people goals. She holds a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration (Summa Cum Laude- 1st 

class honours) from the California State university, Fresno.

Dawn lee  Vice President, Marketing

Dawn Lee joined us in May 2005. She is responsible for developing marketing strategies, new product development, 

market research, customer relationship management and business collaboration on product development with 

strategic partners. Dawn holds a Master of Science degree in Marketing from the City university of New York, and 

a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from the National university of Singapore.

caryn Peh  Vice President, Care Delivery

Caryn Peh joined us in August 2005. She is responsible for developing Eu Yan Sang’s clinic business (both Traditional 

Chinese Medicine and Integrative Medicine) globally. Caryn obtained her Master of Business Administration from 

the university of Leicester, u.K. and her Bachelor of Business Administration from the National university of 

Singapore.

Joanna Wong  Vice President, Brand Management and Corporate Communications

Joanna Wong joined us in March 2000. Her main responsibility is to direct the Eu Yan Sang’s external communication 

programmes including investors’ and public relations. She also directs brand management and communication 

programmes in new markets. She holds a Master of Arts in Communication Management from the university of 

South Australia.

Senior Management
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lim tee how  Managing Director (EYSC) & Senior Vice President (EYSI)

Lim Tee How joined us in June 2008. He is responsible for the overall business, operations and performance of our 

China venture and is based in Guangzhou. He holds a Master of Business Administration from the university of 

Bath, u.K.

Alice Wong  Managing Director (EYSHK) & Senior Vice President (EYSI)

Alice Wong joined us in 1993. She is responsible for the overall performance, business and operation of EYSHK. 

Since September 2005, she has been a member of the Chinese Medicines Board under the Chinese Medicine 

Council of Hong Kong, HKSARG, and her present three-year term will last until September 2011. In September 

2006, she was appointed as a member of School of Chinese Medicine Advisory Committee, Hong Kong Baptist 

university for a term of 2 years, which was renewed for another 2 years in September 2008. In addition, Alice has 

been an honorary advisor of the Society of Chinese Materia Medica of Hong Kong Baptist university since April 

2007. She has also been serving as a member of the Business Enterprise Management Centre General Committee, 

Hong Kong Management Association since August 2006. In March 2009, she was elected to be the Chairlady of 

the Supervisory Committee of Hong Kong Chinese Patent Medicine Manufacturers’ Association Ltd. with a term 

expiring in February 2011. Alice holds a Master of Arts Degree in Communication Management from university of 

South Australia.

William sung  General Manager, Finance and Administration

William Sung joined us in 1997. He was then responsible for the financial and IT matters. In July 2006, he was 

re-titled as General Manager, Finance and Administration. William has the added responsibility of overseeing the 

administration and human resources matters of the Hong Kong group. He is also a member of both the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

ella lee  General Manager, Sales and Marketing

Ella Lee joined us in 1995. She is responsible for the sales and marketing activities of EYSHK, including the retail 

and wholesales business units. Ella holds a Master of Science in Marketing from the Chinese university of Hong 

Kong, a Bachelor of Social Sciences, and a Postgraduate Diploma in Marketing from the university of Hong Kong.

HoNG KoNG - Eu Yan Sang (Hong Kong) Limited (EYSHK)

Senior Management
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Kim Wu  Senior Manager, Factory Operations

Kim Wu joined us in october 2000. He is responsible for the factory operations and quality control. Kim holds a 

Bachelor of Chemistry and a Master of Biotechnology from Hong Kong university of Science and Technology. He 

also holds the Chartered Biologist status (CBiol MIBiol) from Institute of Biology, and the Chartered Chemist status 

from The Royal Australian Chemical Institute Incorporated (MRACI CChem).

lok eng hock  Managing Director (EYSMAL) & Senior Vice President (EYSI)

Lok Eng Hock joined us in 1982. He is responsible for the overall performance, business and manufacturing 

operations of EYSMAL and Weng Li Sdn. Bhd. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the then Nanyang 

university, Singapore.

eric chiu  Senior General Manager

Eric Chiu joined us in 1996. He is responsible for the overall performance of Weng Li Sdn. Bhd. and assists in the 

overall trading operation of EYSMAL. Eric holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Maastricht School of 

Management (MSM), the Netherlands. He is a member of both The Malaysia Institute of Accountants and CPA Australia.

Wong Kah cane  General Manager

Wong Kah Cane re-joined us in April 2006. Currently, he is responsible for assisting the implementation and 

development of strategic sales and marketing plan for EYSMAL. He holds a Bachelor of Business Administration 

from universiti utara Malaysia.

vincent lim  Managing Director (EYSS) & Senior Vice President (EYSI)

Vincent Lim joined us in March 2003. He is responsible for the overall business, operations and performance of 

EYSS. In addition, Vincent also manages the business operations of Yin Yang Spa Products Pte Ltd. Vincent holds a 

Bachelor of Business Administration degree from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology, Australia.

Wee chin lian  Deputy General Manager, Finance

Wee Chin Lian joined us in February 2006. He is responsible for the financial management, IT and logistics 

management of EYSS. He is a fellow member of both The Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore 

(ICPAS) and The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA).

eraine Foo  Assistant General Manager, Sales

Eraine Foo joined us in August 2002. She is responsible for the sales operations of EYSS. She holds a Master of 

Business Administration degree from the university of Northumbria, Newcastle, uK.

Senior Management

SINGAPoRE - Eu Yan Sang (Singapore) Pte Ltd (EYSS)

MALAYSIA - Eu Yan Sang (1959) Sdn Bhd (EYSMAL)

1 8



1 9

Group’s Network

Eu YAN SANG RETAIL ouTLETS

chinA
Guangzhou
Citic Plaza, Tianhe North Road
Friendship Store, Huan Shi East 

Road
Jin Tian Park n Shop, Tianhe 

North  Road

honG KonG
hong Kong island
Cityplaza, Taikoo Shing
King’s Centre, King’s Road
Kornhill Plaza, Quarry Bay
Marina Square, Apleichau 
Queensway Plaza, Queensway
Queen’s Road, Central
Plaza 2000, Russell Street, 

Causeway Bay 
Shun Tak Centre, Sheung Wan
Yee Wo Street, Causeway Bay

Kowloon
580 Nathan Road, Mongkok
655 Nathan Road, Mongkok 
Cameron Road, Tsimshatsui 
Chatham Road South, 

Tsimshatsui
China Hong Kong City, 

Tsimshatsui
Fu Yan Street, Kwun Tong
Grand Century Place, Mongkok
Lai Chi Kok Road, Sham Shui Po
Langham Place, Mongkok
olympian City 2,West Kowloon
Peking Road, Tsimshatsui
Plaza Hollywood, Diamond Hill
Sham Shui Po MTR Station
Tak Man Street, Hunghom
Telford Phaza II, Telford
Whampoa Garden, Hunghom-

Jusco

new territories
Castle Peak Road, Yuen Long
Chelsea Heights, Tuen Mun
Discovery Park, Tsuen Wan
East Point City, Tseung Kwan o
Landmark North, Sheung Shui
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Luk Yeung Galleria, Tsuen Wan
Ma on Shan Plaza, Ma on Shan
Maritime Square, Tsing Yi
Metro City Plaza II, Tseung Kwan o
Metroplaza, Kwai Fong 
Shatin Plaza, Shatin
Sheung Shui Centre, Sheung Shui
Tai Wai Road, Shatin
Terminal 1, Hong Kong 

International Airport 
Terminal 2, Hong Kong 

International Airport 
Tsuen Kam Centre, Tsuen Wan
Tsuen Wan Plaza, Tsuen Wan
Tuen Mun Town Plaza, Tuen Mun
uptown Plaza, Tai Po 

Pronature counter
Elements, Kowloon Station

MAcAU
Avenida, Macau
Venetian, Cotai

MAlAysiA
Johor
Taman Flora utama, Batu Pahat
Jalan Ali, Muar
Jusco Desa Tebrau Shopping 

Centre
Jalan Sutera, Taman Sentosa, 

Johore Bahru
Jusco Permas Jaya Shopping 

Centre
Sutera Mall, Skudai
Kluang Mall
Jusco  Bukit Indah Shopping 

Centre, Johore Bahru

Melaka
Jusco, Melaka Shopping Centre
Tesco Melaka, Pringgit

negeri sembilan
Jalan Dato’ Bandar Tunggal
Jusco, Seremban 2 Shopping 

Centre 

Kuala lumpur
Carrefour, Endah Parade, Sri 

Petaling
Carrefour, Kepong
Cheras Leisuremall, Taman Segar
Mid Point Shopping Centre, 

Pandan Indah
Lucky Plaza, Jalan Klang Lama
Jusco, Alpha Angle Shopping 

Complex, Wangsa Maju
Jusco, Metro Prima, Kepong
Jusco, Taman Maluri
Mid Valley Megamall
Shaw Parade, Changkat Thambi 

Dollah
Tesco Extra, Cheras
The Gardens, Mid Valley City

selangor
Jusco, Bukit Tinggi Shopping 

Centre
Bukit Raja Shopping Centre
Giant , Kota Damansara 
Giant Bukit Tinggi
IoI Mall, Bandar Puchong Jaya
Jusco, Bandar Puchong Jaya
Jusco  Cheras Selatan, Balakong
Jusco, one utama Shopping 

Centre
Jusco, Taman Equine Shopping 

Centre
SS2, Petaling Jaya
Selayang Mall, Batu Caves
Taipan, uEP, Subang Jaya
Taman Connaught, Cheras 
Tesco, Puchong
Tesco, Setia Alam
Sunway Pyramid, Petaling Jaya 
Jusco Au2 Shopping Centre, 

Taman Setiawangsa

Perak
Fajar, Teluk Intan
Jalan Bandar Timah, Ipoh
Jalan Idris, Kampar
Jusco, Kinta City Shopping 

Centre, Ipoh
Tesco, Taiping
Ipoh Garden Plaza, Ipoh
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Penang
Jusco Seberang Prai City Shopping 

Centre
Lebuh Chulia, Georgetown
Gurney Plaza, Persiaran Gurney
Jusco, Queensbay Mall
Sunway Carnival, Butterworth
Sunshine Square Complex, Bayan 

Lepas
Tesco Penang, Bandar Jelutung

Pahang
East Coast Mall, Putra Square
Giant Hypermarket, Kuantan
Jalan Air Putih, Kuantan

sarawak
Jalan Tunku Abdul Rahman, 

Kuching
Sing Kwong Shopping Mall, Sibu 
The Spring Shopping Mall, 

Kuching

sinGAPore
AMK Hub, Ang Mo Kio
Ang Mo Kio Town Centre
Bedok Central, New upper Changi 

Road 
Bugis Junction, Victoria Street 
Bukit Panjang Plaza, Jelebu Road 
Causeway Point, Woodlands 

Square
Centrepoint, orchard Road 
City Square Mall, Kitchener Road
Clifford Centre, Raffles Place 
Compass Point, Sengkang Square
Great World City, Kim Seng 

Promenade
Hougang Mall, Hougang 
ICoN Village, Gopeng Street
IoN, orchard Turn
IMM, Jurong East Street 21
Jurong East Street 13
Jurong Point, Jurong West  

Central
Lot one, Choa Chu Kang 
Mount Elizabeth Medical Centre 
North Point, Yishun

Group’s Network

Paragon, orchard Road
Parkway Parade, Marine Parade 

Road 
Plaza Singapura, orchard Road 
Raffles City Shopping Centre, 

North Bridge Road 
Sembawang Shopping Centre, 

Sembawang Road
South Bridge Road 
Square 2, Sinaran Drive 
Sun Plaza, Sembawang Drive
Suntec City Mall, Temasek 

Boulevard 
Terminal 1, Changi Airport 
Terminal 2, Changi Airport
Terminal 3, Changi Airport 
Tampines Mall, Tampines Central 
Tangs, orchard Road 
The Central, Eu Tong Sen Street 
Tiong Bahru Plaza, Tiong Bahru 

Road 
Toa Payoh Central 
Vivo City, Harbour Front Walk 
West Mall, Bukit Batok Central 

Link 
White Sands, Pasir Ris Central

CLINICS

MAlAysiA
TCM Clinics
Kuala lumpur
Shaw Parade, Changkat Thambi 

Dollah

negeri sembilan
Seremban, Jalan Dato’ Bandar 

Tunggal

Pulau Pinang
Lebuh Chulia

sinGAPore
Specialist TCM Centres
Camden Medical Centre
Paragon
Paragon (TCM Centre for 

Reproductive Health)

TCM Clinics
Ang Mo Kio
Bukit Batok
Greenridge
Hougang
Jurong East
Jurong Medical Centre
Plaza Singapura
Rivervale Mall
Sembawang
South Bridge Road
Tampines
Tiong Bahru
Toa Payoh
Whitesands
Yishun

Sessional Clinic
KK Women’s and Children’s 
    Hospital, Women’s Pain Centre

SuB-BRAND ouTLETS 

Yen Shop
Cheras Leisuremall, Kuala Lumpur
Sutera Mall, Skudai, Johore Bahru

Honey Mart
Gaint, Kota Damansara, Selangor
Jusco, Au2 Shopping Centre, 

Taman Setiawangsa, Selangor

The Zun Kitchenette
Shaw Parade

The Zun Express 
The Gardens, Mid Valley City
Jusco, Bukit Tinggi Shopping  

Centre
Sunway Pyramid
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Eu Yan Sang Group

CoRPoRATE oFFICE 

eU yAn sAnG 
internAtionAl ltD
269A South Bridge Road
Singapore 058818
tel : (65) 6225 3211
fax : (65) 6225 8276
email : customersvc@
     euyansang.com

ouR SuBSIDIARIES

AUstrAliA
Eu YAN SANG AuSTRALIA 
PTY LTD
unit 22/37 Nicholson Street, 
Balmain East, NSW 2041, Australia
tel : (612) 8021 9882
fax : (612) 9982 7116

chinA
Eu YAN SANG TRADING 
(GuANGDoNG) Co LTD
Rm 1606-1607, 16/F North Tower
Guangzhou World Trade Centre
371-375 Huan Shi Dong Road
Guangzhou 510095
People’s Republic of China
tel : (8620) 2237 1879
fax : (8620) 2237 1877
email : info.cn@euyansang.com
website : www.euyansang.com/cn

honG KonG
Eu YAN SANG 
(HoNG KoNG) LTD
Eu Yan Sang Centre
10 Wang Lee Street, Yuen Long 
Industrial Estate
Yuen Long, New Territories
Hong Kong
tel : (852) 2544 3268
fax : (852) 2850 6785
email : info@euyansang.com.hk
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inDonesiA
PT EYS VENTuRES INDoNESIA
Setiabudi Atrium, 2nd Floor, 
Suite 209A
Jl. H.R. Rasuna Said Kav 62,
Jakarta 12920
Indonesia
tel  : (6221) 520 7040
fax  : (6221) 520 7046

MAcAU
Eu YAN SANG (MACAu) LTD
Avenida de Almeida Ribeiro
No. 48, Macau
People’s Republic of China
tel  : (853) 2838 9370
fax  : (853) 2838 9371

MAlAysiA
Eu YAN SANG (1959)
SDN BHD
No. L2-01 & L2-12, 2nd Floor, 
Shaw Parade
Changkat Thambi Dollah
55100 Kuala Lumpur
Malaysia
tel  : (603) 2116 8200
fax  : (603) 2116 8201
email : info@euyansang.com.my

WENG LI SDN BHD
4 Persiaran 1/118C, Fasa 2,
Desa Tun Razak Industrial Park 
Cheras,
56000 Kuala Lumpur
Malaysia
tel  : (603) 9173 1984 / 
        (603) 9173 1986
fax  : (603) 9173 1987
email : info@wengli.com.my

sinGAPore
Eu YAN SANG INTEGRATIVE 
HEALTH PTE LTD
269A South Bridge Road
Singapore 058818
tel  : (65) 6225 3211
fax  : (65) 6227 4312
email : enquiry@ihealth.com.sg
website : www.ihealth.com.sg

Eu YAN SANG MARKETING 
PTE LTD
269A South Bridge Road
Singapore 058818
tel  : (65) 6225 3211
fax  : (65) 6221 1861

Eu YAN SANG (SINGAPoRE) 
PTE LTD
21 ubi Road 1
#03-01/02
Singapore 408724
tel  : (65) 6749 8830
fax  : (65) 6749 8692
email : info@euyansang.com

tAiWAn
Eu YAN SANG (TAIWAN) LTD
Xin Zhu County, Zhu Bei City
Xian Zhen City, 9 Road 135 Lane
No. 6, 1st Floor
tel  : (8862) 3551 0488
fax  : (8862) 3555 7208

thAilAnD
Eu YAN SANG (THAILAND) LTD
101/15 Moo 2, Saimai Road
Soi 38, Khet Saimai
Bangkok 1022D
Thailand
tel  : (662) 996 4090
fax  : (662) 996 4094
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The Group’s Structure

Eu Yan Sang 
International Ltd

Eu Yan Sang (Singapore) 
Private Limited

SINGAPoRE

MALAYSIA

HoNG KoNG

AuSTRALIA

Eu Realty (Singapore) 
Private Limited

Eu Yan Sang Marketing 
Pte Ltd

Eu Yan Sang Integrative Health 
Pte. Ltd.

Yin Yang Spa Products 
Pte Ltd

Red White & Pure Pte. Ltd.

EYS KangHong Herbal 
Pte Ltd

iGates BioInnovation 
Pte Ltd

Eu Yan Sang (1959) 
Sendirian Berhad

Weng Li Sdn. Bhd.

Eu Yan Sang Heritage 
Sdn. Bhd.

Eu Yan Sang Integrative Health 
Sdn. Bhd.

Eu Yan Sang (Hong Kong) Limited

Eu Yan Sang Australia Pty Ltd

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

50%

51%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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EYS Ventures Pte Ltd

RWP Food Services Pte. Ltd.

Eu Yan Sang (Properties) Limited

Eu Yan Sang (China Ventures) Limited

Supreme Bottled Bird’s Nest Co. Limited

Top Lot Limited

Eu Yan Sang Medical Services Limited

ProNature (Hong Kong) Limited

INDoNESIA

THAILAND

uSA

PT EYS Ventures Indonesia

Eu Yan Sang (Thailand) Ltd

Botanical Health Resources, Inc.

100%

1%
99%

79%

100%

100%

Vistern Health Sdn. Bhd
75%

Yen & u Sdn. Bhd.
100%

Eu Yan Sang (Export) Limited100%

optimum Sejati Sdn. Bhd.
100%

PRC
Eu Yan Sang Trading 

(Guangdong) Co. Limited
100%100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

90%

Eu Yan Sang (Taiwan) Co. Ltd
100%

TAIWAN

MACAu Eu Yan Sang (Macau) Limited99%

1%



Corporate Data

boArD oF Directors 
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee
Non-Executive Chairman

Richard Yee Ming Eu
Group CEO

Clifford Yee Fong Eu
Managing Director

Leslie Kim Loong Mah*
Non-Executive Director

Robert James Yee Sang Eu
Non-Executive Director

Malcolm Man-Chung au
Independent Director

Ian Wayne spence
Independent Director

Dr David Yee Tat Eu
(alternate to Richard Eu)

Laurence Yee Lye Eu
(alternate to Clifford Eu)

Billy Wah Yan Ma
(alternate to Robert Eu)

* Mr Leslie Mah will not be    
 offering himself for re-election

AUDit coMMittee
Ian Wayne spence
Chairman

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee

Malcolm Man-Chung au

strAteGic Direction
coMMittee
Robert James Yee Sang Eu
Chairman

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee

Malcolm Man-Chung au

noMinAtinG coMMittee
Ian Wayne spence
Chairman

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee

Malcolm Man-Chung au

coMPensAtion coMMittee
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee
Chairman

Ian Wayne spence

Robert James Yee Sang Eu

coMPAny secretAries
Danny Heng, CPA

Sebastian tan, FCCA

reGistereD oFFice
269A South Bridge Road
Singapore 058818
tel : (65) 6225 3211
fax : (65) 6225 8276

shAre reGistrArs
Boardroom Corporate & advisory 
services Pte ltd
3 Church Street
#08-01 Samsung Hub
Singapore 049483
tel : (65) 6536 5355
fax : (65) 6536 1360

AUDitors
Ernst & young llP
one Raffles Quay
North Tower, Level 18
Singapore 048583
Audit Partner-in-charge:

Daniel soh
Appointment Date:
(since financial year ended
30 June 2005)

PrinciPAl bAnKers
dBs Bank ltd
6 Shenton Way,
DBS Building, Tower one
Singapore 068809

overseas-Chinese Banking 
Corporation limited 
65 Chulia Street,
#26-00 oCBC Centre
Singapore 049513

Public Bank Berhad
Menara Public Bank
146 Jalan Ampang,
50450 Kuala Lumpur
Malaysia

rabobank international
77 Robinson Road #09-00
SIA Building
Singapore 068896

standard Chartered Bank
13th Floor,
Standard Chartered Tower
388 Kwun Tong Road,
Kwun Tong
Hong Kong

united overseas Bank limited
1 Raffles Place, ouB Centre
Singapore 048616
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the Board of eu Yan Sang International ltd (the “Board”) is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate 
governance to ensure greater transparency and to protect the interests of the Company’s shareholders. 

this report describes the corporate governance principles applied by the Company with specific reference to the 
Code of Corporate Governance (the “Code”). references to the principles of the Code are listed below:

PrinCiPlE 1: Board’s ConduCt oF aFFairs

the principal functions of the Board are:

(1)  to provide entrepreneurial leadership and approve the broad policies, strategies and financial objectives of 
the Company and monitor the performance of the Management;

(2)  to ensure that necessary financial and human resources are in place for the Company to meet its objectives;

(3)  to oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, financial reporting and compliance;

(4) to approve the appointment of directors to the Board and the appointment of key personnel;

(5) to approve annual budgets, major funding proposals, investment and divestment proposals; 

(6) to assume responsibility for corporate governance; and

(7)  to set the Company’s values and standards, and ensure that obligations to shareholders and others are 
understood and met.

Matters which are specifically referred to the Board for decision are those involving approval of accounts and 
results announcements, dividend payments or other returns to shareholders, corporate or financial restructuring 
and share issuance, material acquisitions and disposal of assets.

the Board conducts regularly scheduled meetings on a quarterly basis. ad-hoc meetings are convened when 
circumstances require. the Company’s articles of association provide for meetings by means of teleconference. 
the attendance of the directors at meetings of the Board and Board committees, and the frequency of these 
meetings for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 is disclosed as follows.

directors’ attendance at Board & Committee Meetings

name Board
audit 

Committee
Compensation 

Committee
nominating 
Committee

strategic 
direction 

Committee
no of 
Mtgs 
Held

no of 
Mtgs 

atten’d

no of 
Mtgs 
Held

no of 
Mtgs

atten’d

no of 
Mtgs 
Held

no of 
Mtgs 

atten’d

no of 
Mtgs 
Held

no of 
Mtgs 

atten’d

no of 
Mtgs 
Held

no of 
Mtgs 

atten’d
richard Yee Ming eu 4 4 - - - - - - - -
Clifford Yee Fong eu 4 4 - - - - - - - -
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee 4 4 4 4 2 2 1 1 5 5
Ian Wayne Spence 4 4 4 4 2 2 1 1 - -
robert James Yee Sang eu 4 4 - - 2 2 - - 5 5
Malcolm Man Chung au 4 4 4 4 - - 1 1 5 5
leslie Kim loong Mah 4 4 - - - - - - - -

Corporate Governance
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the Company provides facilities such as the conduct of internal courses for the directors to meet their training 
needs. Directors are also provided regular update, briefing from time to time by professional advisors, auditors and 
management on new laws, rules, regulations, listing requirements, governance practices, changes in accounting 
standards and business and risk management issues applicable or relevant to the performance of their duties and 
responsibilities as Directors. a new director is given orientation on the Group’s businesses. the Company adopts 
a policy whereby directors are encouraged to request for further explanations, briefings or informal discussions 
on the Company’s operations or business with the Management.

PrinCiPlE 2: Board CoMPosition and guidanCE

the Board currently has seven (7) directors, comprising three (3) independent directors, two (2) non-independent 
and non-executive directors and two (2) executive directors. the profile of Directors are provided under the 
Board of Directors section. 

the Board comprises directors who as a group provide core competencies such as accounting or finance, business 
or management experience, industry knowledge and strategic planning experience. this enables the Board to 
interact and work with Management through an open exchange of ideas and views to help shape the strategic 
process. to assist in the execution of its responsibilities and to comply with the requirements, the Board has 
established sub-committees: an audit Committee, a nominating Committee, a Strategic Direction Committee 
and a Compensation Committee, under which the executives’ Share option Scheme Committee functions as a 
sub-committee. these committees function within clearly defined terms of reference and operating procedures, 
which are reviewed on a regular basis. the effectiveness of each committee is also constantly monitored.

the Board’s structure, size and composition is reviewed annually by the nominating Committee (“nC”). the nC 
is of the view that the current size of the Board is appropriate to facilitate effective decision making, taking into 
account the nature and scope of the Group’s operations. as more than 1/3rd of the Board is independent, the nC 
is satisfied that the Board has substantial independent elements to ensure that objective judgment is exercised on 
corporate affairs.

PrinCiPlE 3: rolE oF CHairMan and grouP CHiEF EXECutiVE oFFiCEr

the Company has a non-executive director serving as Chairman and an executive director serving as Group Ceo. 
the Group Ceo is the most senior executive in the Company and bears executive responsibility for the Company’s 
business, while the Chairman bears responsibility for the workings of the Board. the Chairman and the Group 
Ceo are not related, and the responsibilities of the Chairman and the Group Ceo are clearly defined.

the Chairman schedules board meetings and sets board agenda in consultation with the Group Ceo. the 
Chairman reviews most board papers before they are submitted to the Board and ensures that all Board members 
are provided with complete, adequate and timely information. as a rule, board papers are sent to directors 
approximately seven days in advance for directors to be adequately prepared for the meetings.

Corporate Governance
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Corporate Governance

the Group Ceo supported by the Chief operating officer (“Coo”) and Chief Financial officer (“CFo”) executes 
decisions taken by the Board and is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Company. the Ceo presides 
over a Management Committee (“MC”) consisting of the executive directors, Coo, CFo and Group General 
Managers. In setting the business direction of the Company, the MC convenes meetings as and when necessary to 
review the Group’s operational performance and evaluate new projects and investment opportunities. In line with 
good corporate governance principles, the Board had also set up a Strategic Direction Committee, comprising 
two (2) non-executive independent directors and one (1) non-executive non-independent director. the primary 
role of this committee is to assist the Ceo in setting the direction of the Group’s business as it has gone beyond 
the region to join the league of global business.

PrinCiPlE 4: Board MEMBErsHiP
PrinCiPlE 5: Board PErForManCE

nominating Committee

the members of the nominating Committee (“nC”) are as follows:

(1) Ian Wayne Spence (Chairman) (Independent)
(2) Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee (Independent)
(3) Malcolm Man Chung au (Independent)

the Chairman is not, or is not directly associated with, a substantial shareholder.

the nC’s principal functions are:

(1)  to identify candidates and review all nominations for the appointment or re-appointment of members of 
the Board of Directors; the Chief executive officer of the Company; senior executive staff; members of the 
various Board committees, for the purpose of proposing such nominations to the Board for its approval;

(2)  to set criteria for identifying candidates and reviewing nominations for the appointments referred to in 
paragraph 1;

(3)  to determine annually the independence of the directors. If the nC determines that a director is independent, 
notwithstanding that he has one or more of the relationships (as set forth in Guidance note 2.1 of the Code), 
it will disclose in full the nature of the director’s relationship and bear responsibility for considering him 
independent;

(4)  to decide how the Board’s performance may be evaluated and propose objective performance criteria for 
the Board’s approval; 

(5)  to decide whether a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his or her duties as a director 
of the Company particularly when the director has multiple board representations;

(6)  to assess annually the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, and the contribution by each individual director 
to the effectiveness to the Board which enables the nC to identify areas for future improvement to the 
Board’s effectiveness and recommendations are made to the Board for consideration;
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(7) to oversee the management, development and succession planning of the Group. 

new directors are at present appointed by the Board, after the nC approves their appointment. Such new directors 
are required to submit themselves for re-election at the next annual General Meeting (“aGM”) of the Company 
pursuant to article 92 of the Company’s articles of association. article 109 of the articles of association require 
one third of the Board (other than the Managing Director) to retire by rotation at every aGM. 

PrinCiPlE 6: aCCEss to inForMation

Directors are provided with background and other relevant information to support decision making. Management 
provides the Board with monthly financial reports and quarterly management reports. the directors have also 
been provided with email particulars and telephone numbers of the Company’s Group General Managers to 
facilitate access.

the Company Secretary attends all board meetings and is responsible for ensuring that the Company complies 
with the statutory requirements of the Companies act. together with the management staff, the Company Secretary 
is responsible for compliance with all other rules and regulations that are applicable to the Company.

In the furtherance of their duties, the directors may seek independent advice, if necessary, at the Company’s 
expense.

Changes to regulations and accounting standards are closely monitored by Management. Directors are briefed 
either during Board meetings or by the Company Secretary of these changes especially where these changes have 
an important bearing on the Company’s or directors’ disclosure obligations.

PrinCiPlE 7: ProCEdurEs For dEVEloPing rEMunEration PoliCiEs
PrinCiPlE 8: lEVEl and MiX oF rEMunEration
PrinCiPlE 9: disClosurE on rEMunEration

the members of the Compensation Committee (“CC”) are as follows:

(1) Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee (Chairman) (Independent)

(2) Ian Wayne Spence (Independent)

(3) robert James Yee Sang eu (non-executive) (non-Independent)

CC’s principal responsibilities are to review the annual remuneration package of the executive directors and 
fees for Board members. the review covers all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to directors’ 
fees, salaries, bonuses and benefits in kind based on the performance of the Group and the individual. the 
recommendations are submitted to the Board for endorsement. 

Corporate Governance
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the review of the remuneration of each senior management staff of the Group is not conducted by the CC but 
reviewed by the Group’s human resources department, in consultation with the Ceo and the senior management. 
the review takes into consideration the performance and the contributions of the staff to the Company and gives 
due regard to the financial and business performance of that company. the Group seeks to offer a competitive 
level of remuneration to attract, motivate and retain senior management of the required competency to run the 
Group successfully.

the Company adopts a remuneration policy that comprises a fixed as well as a variable component. the fixed 
component is in a form of base salary and benefits while the variable component is in a form of performance 
bonus and grant of shares and share options under the Company’s employees’ Share option Scheme (“eSoS”) 
and performance Share plan (“pSp”). 

a sub-committee under the purview of the CC administers the eSoS and pSp and comprises:
 
(1) Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee

(2) Ian Wayne Spence

(3) robert James Yee Sang eu 

(4) richard Yee Ming eu

More details on the eSoS and pSp are provided in the Directors’ report.

an executive director is paid a basic salary and a performance related bonus. adjustments to the remuneration 
package of an executive director are subject to review and approval by the Board of Directors. under the terms 
of the agreement, the Chairman is paid a flat fee and there is no performance-related element. non-executive 
directors have no service contracts. 

(1) table shows breakdown of Directors’ remuneration (in percentage terms)

name of directors
remuneration 

Bands salary Bonus
directors 

Fee
other 

Benefits* total
$ % % % % %

richard Yee Ming eu 500,000 to 749,999 90 7 – 3 100
leslie Kim loong Mah** 500,000 to 749,999 43 4 – 53 100
Clifford Yee Fong eu 250,000 to 499,999 87 7 – 6 100
robert James Yee Sang eu 0 to 249,999 – – 100 – 100
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee 0 to 249,999 – – 100 – 100
Ian Wayne Spence 0 to 249,999 – – 100 – 100
Malcolm Man Chung au 0 to 249,999 – – 100 – 100

* excluding share options which are disclosed in Directors’ report
** leslie Kim loong Mah became a non-executive Director on 1 July 2009.

Corporate Governance
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(2) table shows the range of gross remuneration received by executives of the Group

number of executives of the group in remuneration bands 2009
$250,000 to $499,999 3
Below $250,000 16
total 19 

(3)  no employee of the Company and its subsidiaries was an immediate family member of a Director or the 
Ceo of the Company and whose remuneration exceeded S$150,000 during the financial year ended 30 
June 2009.  

PrinCiPlE 10: aCCountaBility
PrinCiPlE 14: CoMMuniCation WitH sHarEHoldErs
PrinCiPlE 15: grEatEr sHarEHoldEr PartiCiPation

the Company holds briefings for the media and the analysts on its half-year and its full-year results. the results 
announcements are released through the SGXnet system and via news releases, and are also posted on the 
Company’s website. all material information relating to the Company is disseminated via SGXnet followed by 
a news release. all announcements, including the annual report, are available on the Group’s website at www.
euyansang.com.

the Company has an investor relations team headed by the Chief executive officer and assisted by the Chief 
Financial officer whose function is to communicate with investors and attend to their queries. Shareholders of 
the Company receive the annual report and notice of aGM. at aGMs, shareholders are given the opportunity to 
ask the Management questions regarding the Company and to air their views. 

PrinCiPlE 11: audit CoMMittEE

the audit Committee (“aC”) comprises three (3) independent directors. they are as follows:

(1) Ian Wayne Spence (Chairman) (Independent)

(2) Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee (Independent)

(3) Malcolm Man Chung au (Independent)

During the year, the aC met with the Group’s external auditors and the internal auditors to review the audit plans 
and the reports of the external auditors and internal auditors. It had also evaluated the adequacy of the internal 
controls of the Company with the auditors and discussed their findings with the Management. the aC reviewed 
the quarterly (Q1, Q2 & Q3), half-year and full-year results announcements before their submission to the Board 
for approval.

Corporate Governance
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the principal functions of the aC are:

(1) to review the audit plans and findings of the external auditors;

(2)  to review the quarterly (Q1, Q2 & Q3), half-yearly and full year results announcement to ensure integrity of 
the financial statements and announcements prior to submission to the Board for approval and release;

(3)  to evaluate the adequacy of the internal control systems of the Company by reviewing the written reports 
from the external auditors;

(4) to review the Company’s risk management processes;

(5) to review related party transactions, if any; 

(6)  to review the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence and objectivity 
of the external auditors annually; and

(7)  to recommend to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor and 
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor.

to create an environment for open discussion on audit matters, the aC meets with the external and internal 
auditors, without the presence of Management, at least once a year.

Management has put in place a Whistle Blowing policy, whereby employees of the group may, in confidence, 
raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. the objective for 
such arrangement is to ensure independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow up action.

the aC has reviewed the non-audit services provided by the external auditors for FY2009 and is satisfied that 
such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. accordingly, it has recommended 
the re-appointment of Messrs ernst & Young llp as auditors of the Company at the forthcoming annual 
General Meeting.

the aC is authorized to investigate any matter within its terms of reference and has been given full access to and 
cooperation from Management to enable the committee to fulfill its responsibilities effectively. the aC has full 
discretion to invite any director or any executive to attend its meetings. 

PrinCiPlE 12: intErnal Controls
PrinCiPlE 13: intErnal audits

the Company has outsourced its Internal audit (“Ia”) function. the scope of the internal audit is:

(1) to review the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal controls;

(2) to provide assurance that key business and operational risks are identified and managed;

(3) to determine that internal controls are in place and functioning as intended; and

Corporate Governance
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(4) to evaluate that operations are conducted in an effective and efficient manner.

Material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses noted during the internal audit and the recommendations 
thereof are reported to the Chairman of the aC as part of the review of the Group’s internal control system. 
For non-compliance of administrative matters, the matter is reported to the Ceo. the aC reviews the Internal 
auditor’s reports. to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of the internal audit function, the aC reviews the 
Internal auditor’s scope of work on an annual basis. 

securities transactions

the Company has issued a policy on securities dealing by officers of the Company and its subsidiaries (comprising 
directors and key personnel) in the form of a Code of Best practices on Securities Dealings (the “Code”) to govern 
and regulate transactions relating to securities of the Company. the Code was based on the best practices on 
dealings in securities issued by the SGX-St and has been circulated to all relevant parties.

under the Code, officers are prohibited from dealing in securities of the Company on short term considerations 
and during the period commencing two (2) weeks before the announcement of the Company’s financial statements 
for each of the first three quarters of its financial year and one month before the announcement of the Company’s 
full year financial statements. 

Material Contracts

there were no material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interests of any directors or 
controlling shareholders subsisting as at the financial year ended 30 June 2009.

Corporate Governance
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the Directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of eu Yan Sang International ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the 
balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2009.

directors 

the Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee (Chairman)
richard Yee Ming eu   (Group Ceo)
Clifford Yee Fong eu   (Managing Director)
leslie Kim loong Mah  (redesignated to non-executive Director with effect from 1.7.2009)
robert James Yee Sang eu
Ian Wayne Spence
Malcolm Man-Chung au
Dr David Yee tat eu   (alternate to richard Yee Ming eu)
laurence Yee lye eu   (alternate to Clifford Yee Fong eu)
Billy Wah Yan Ma   (alternate to robert James Yee Sang eu)

leslie Kim loong Mah will be due to retire at the forthcoming annual General Meeting pursuant to article 109 
of the Company’s articles of association. He has not offered himself for re-election.

arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

except as described below, neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party 
to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose object is, to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire 
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

directors’ interests in shares and debentures

the following Directors, who held office at the end of the financial year had, according to the register of the 
Directors’ shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies act, Cap. 50, an 
interest in shares and share options of the Company (other than wholly owned subsidiaries) as stated below:

direct interest deemed interest
name of director at 1.7.2008 at 30.6.2009 at 1.7.2008 at 30.6.2009

the Company
ordinary shares 

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee 125,000 125,000 – – 
richard Yee Ming eu – – 52,945,143 52,945,143
Clifford Yee Fong eu 190,743 190,743 85,739,267 85,739,267
robert James Yee Sang eu – – 26,263,535 26,263,535
Dr David Yee tat eu 11,523,806 11,523,806 – – 
laurence Yee lye eu 1,875,000 675,000 68,739,267 68,739,267
Billy Wah Yan Ma – – 28,605,845 28,605,845
Malcolm Man-Chung au – 1,853,250 – – 

Directors’ report
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directors’ interests in shares and debentures (Cont’d)

direct interest deemed interest
name of director at 1.7.2008 at 30.6.2009 at 1.7.2008 at 30.6.2009

options to subscribe for ordinary shares 

Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee 160,000 160,000 – – 
richard Yee Ming eu 530,000 530,000 – – 
Clifford Yee Fong eu 475,000 475,000 – – 
leslie Kim loong Mah 812,500 1,012,500 – – 
Ian Wayne Spence 160,000 160,000 – – 
Malcolm Man-Chung au 160,000 160,000 – – 

there were no changes in the interest of directors between the end of the financial year and 21 July 2009. 

except as disclosed in this report, no Directors who held office at the end of the financial year had an interest in 
shares, share options or debentures of the Company, or any of the subsidiaries of the Company at the beginning 
of the financial year, or at the end of the financial year. 

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies act, Cap. 50, Clifford Yee Fong eu is deemed to have interest 
in the subsidiaries of the Company.

directors’ contractual benefits

except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the 
Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or 
a related corporation with the Director, or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a Company in 
which the Director has a substantial financial interest.

Employees share option scheme

the eu Yan Sang employees Share option Scheme (“eYS eSoS 2000”) was approved by the shareholders at an 
extraordinary General Meeting held on 3 July 2000. the eYS eSoS 2000 was granted to executive directors, 
executives, and other employees of the Group and associated companies.

options had been granted under eYS eSoS 2000 (excluding lapsed options) in respect of a total of 7,021,000 
shares, of which options to subscribe for 4,496,250 shares remain outstanding. no further options may be granted 
under eYS eSoS 2000 as it has lapsed on 30 June 2006.

Following the lapse of eYS eSoS 2000, the Company has implemented a share option scheme for executives, 
directors and other employees, in the form of the eu Yan Sang employee Share option Scheme 2006 (“eYS eSoS 
2006”), which was approved by the shareholders at an extraordinary General Meeting on 27 october 2006.

Directors’ report
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Employees share option scheme (Cont’d)

under the eYS eSoS 2006, the options will have exercise prices that set at Market price, being a price equal to 
the average of the last dealt prices for the shares on the SGX-St for the 5 consecutive market days immediately 
preceding the relevant date of grant for which there was trading in the shares on the SGX-St and may be exercised 
after twelve (12) months from the date of grant.

the eYS eSoS 2006 is administered by a committee comprising richard Yee Ming eu, Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee, 
Ian Wayne Spence and robert James Yee Sang eu, all of whom are Directors of the Company. the committee has 
power to determine, inter alia, the persons to be granted options, the number of options to be granted, whether 
options granted continue to be valid in the event of cessation of employment or appointment of a selected person, 
the exercise price and any adjustments thereon and recommendations for modifications to the eYS eSoS 2006.

During the current financial year, the Company granted options to executive directors, executives and other 
employees of the Group to subscribe for 3,735,000 shares in the Company at an exercise price of $0.305 shares 
pursuant to eYS eSoS 2006.

as at 30 June 2009, options granted under eYS eSoS 2006 in respect of a total of 9,355,000 shares, of which 
options to subscribe for 9,030,000 shares remain outstanding.

unissued shares under option

During the financial year, no shares under eYS eSoS 2000 were issued by virtue of an exercise of options to take 
up unissued shares of the Company.

no shares under eYS eSoS 2006 were issued as at the end of the financial year.

at the end of the financial year, unissued shares of the Company under the options were as follows:

date of 
grant

as at 
1.7.2008

number 
of options 
granted

number 
of 

options 
expired

number 
of options 

lapsed

number 
of options 
exercised

at 
30.6.2009

Exercise 
price 
per 

share Exercisable period
$

Esos 2000
31.3.2003 475,000 – – – – 475,000 0.280 31.3.2004 to 30.3.2013
31.3.2003 356,250 – – – – 356,250 0.212 31.3.2004 to 30.3.2013
15.12.2005 3,665,000 – – – – 3,665,000 0.534 15.12.2006 to 14.12.2015

Esos2006
13.11.2006 2,620,000 – – (325,000) – 2,295,000 0.683 13.11.2007 to 12.11.2016
13.12.2007 3,000,000 – – – – 3,000,000 0.577 13.12.2008 to 12.12.2017
29.12.2008 – 3,735,000 – – – 3,735,000 0.305 29.12.2009 to 28.12.2018

10,116,250 3,735,000 – (325,000) – 13,526,250

Directors’ report
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unissued shares under option (Cont’d)

the information on directors participating in the option schemes and employees who receive 5 percent or more 
of the total number of options available under the option schemes are as follows:

name

aggregate 
options granted 

during the 
financial year

aggregate options 
granted since 

commencement of 
the option schemes to 

30 June 2009

aggregate options 
exercised since 

commencement of 
the option schemes to 

30 June 2009

aggregate 
options 

outstanding as at 
30 June 2009

Eys Esos 2000

directors
richard Yee Ming eu – 530,000 – 530,000
Clifford Yee Fong eu – 475,000 – 475,000
leslie Kim loong Mah – 362,500 – 362,500

Employees
KF tan – 150,000 – 150,000
alice Suet Ying Wong – 510,000 (310,000) 200,000
eng Hock lok – 450,000 (250,000) 200,000
Vincent Boon pian lim – 150,000 – 150,000

– 2,627,500 (560,000) 2,067,500

Eys Esos 2006

directors
leslie Kim loong Mah 200,000 650,000 – 650,000
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee – 160,000 – 160,000
Ian Wayne Spence – 160,000 – 160,000
Malcolm Man-Chung au – 160,000 – 160,000

Employees
KF tan 180,000 560,000 – 560,000
alice Suet Ying Wong 180,000 560,000 – 560,000
eng Hock lok 200,000 580,000 – 580,000
Vincent Boon pian lim 160,000 480,000 – 480,000

920,000 3,310,000 – 3,310,000

Directors’ report
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the Performance share Plan 

the eu Yan Sang performance Share plan (“eYS pSp”) is established with the objective of providing the Company 
greater flexibility to align interests of employees, especially the key executives, with those of the shareholders. It is 
also intended that the eYS pSp complements eYS eSoS 2006 in its continuing efforts to reward, retain and motivate 
employees to achieve superior performance which create and enhance economic value for the shareholders. the 
eYS pSp was approved by the shareholders at the extraordinary General Meeting on 25 october 2007. 

the eYS pSp is administered by a committee comprising richard Yee Ming eu, Dr. Jennifer Gek Choo lee, Ian 
Wayne Spence and robert James Yee Sang eu, all of whom are Directors of the Company. award given are 
released once the committee is satisfied that the prescribed performance target has been achieved. 

Shares awarded to a particular selected person will be determined by the Directors of the eYS pSp committee. 
In deciding on an award to be granted to a selected person, the eYS pSp committee will also consider the 
compensation and/or benefits to be given to the selected person under the eYS eSoS 2006 and such other share-
based incentive scheme of the Company. 

During the current financial year, no shares were awarded pursuant to eYS pSp. 

audit Committee

the audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors. the members of the audit Committee 
at the date of this report are:

Ian Wayne Spence   (Chairman)
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee 
Malcolm Man-Chung au 

the audit Committee (“aC”) carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore 
Companies act, Cap. 50, including the following:

•	 	Reviews	 the	 audit	 plans	 of	 the	 internal	 and	 external	 auditors	 of	 the	Company	 and	 reviews	 the	 internal	
auditors’ evaluation of the adequacy of the Company’s system of internal accounting controls and the 
assistance given by the Company’s management to the external and internal auditors; 

•	 	Reviews	 the	 quarterly	 and	 annual	 financial	 statements	 and	 the	 auditors’	 report	 on	 the	 annual	 financial	
statements of the Company before their submission to the board of directors;

•	 	Reviews	 effectiveness	 of	 the	 Company’s	material	 internal	 controls,	 including	 financial,	 operational	 and	
compliance controls and risk management via reviews carried out by the internal auditors;

•	 	Meets	with	 the	 external	 auditors,	 other	 committees,	 and	management	 in	 separate	 executive	 sessions	 to	
discuss any matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the aC;

•	 	Reviews	legal	and	regulatory	matters	that	may	have	a	material	impact	on	the	financial	statements,	related	
compliance policies and programmes and any reports received from regulators;

Directors’ report
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audit Committee (Cont’d)

•	 Reviews	the	cost	effectiveness	and	the	independence	and	objectivity	of	the	external	auditors;

•	 Reviews	the	nature	and	extent	of	non-audit	services	provided	by	the	external	auditors;

•	 	Recommends	to	the	board	of	directors	the	external	auditors	to	be	nominated,	approves	the	compensation	
of the external auditors, and reviews the scope and results of the audit;

•	 	Reports	 actions	 and	minutes	of	 the	AC	 to	 the	board	of	directors	with	 such	 recommendations	 as	 the	AC	
considers appropriate; and

•	 	Reviews	 interested	person	 transactions	 in	 accordance	with	 the	 requirements	 of	 the	 Singapore	 Exchange	
Securities trading limited (“SGX-St”)’s listing Manual.

the aC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfied that 
the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. the aC has 
also conducted a review of interested person transactions.

the aC convened four meetings during the year with full attendance from all members. the aC has also met with 
internal and external auditors, without the presence of the Company’s management, at least once a year.

Further details regarding the audit committee are disclosed in the report on Corporate Governance.

auditors

ernst & Young llp have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditors.

on behalf of the Board of Directors:

richard Yee Ming eu
Director

Clifford Yee Fong eu
Director

Singapore
18 September 2009

Directors’ report
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We, richard Yee Ming eu and Clifford Yee Fong eu, being two of the Directors of eu Yan Sang International ltd 
(the “Company”), do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors:

(i)   the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated income statement, statements of changes in equity, and 
consolidated cash flow statement together with notes thereto are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2009 and the results of the business, 
changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the year ended 
on that date, and 

(ii)   at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they fall due.

on behalf of the Board of Directors:

richard Yee Ming eu
Director

Clifford Yee Fong eu
Director

Singapore
18 September 2009

Statement by Directors
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of eu Yan Sang International ltd (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) set out on pages 43 to 114, which comprise the balance sheets of the 
Group and the Company as at 30 June 2009, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company, 
the income statement and cash flow statement of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies act, Cap. 50 (the “act”) and Singapore Financial reporting 
Standards. this responsibility includes devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient 
to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; 
and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true 
and fair profit and loss account and balance sheet and to maintain accountability of assets; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

auditors’ responsibility

our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on auditing. those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. an audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Independent auditors’ report
to the Members of eu Yan Sang International ltd
For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
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opinion

In our opinion,

(i)  the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity 
of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the act and Singapore Financial 
reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company 
as at 30 June 2009 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity 
of the Company for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii)  the accounting and other records required by the act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries 
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the act. 

ernst & Young llp
public accountants and
Certified public accountants
Singapore
18 September 2009

Independent auditors’ report
to the Members of eu Yan Sang International ltd
For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
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note 2009 2008
$’000 $’000

Continuing oPErations

revenue 3 222,465 208,504
Cost of sales (108,890) (103,941)

gross profit 113,575 104,563
other operating income 912 2,473
Distribution and selling expenses (71,199) (63,743)
administrative expenses (21,154) (22,371)
other operating expenses (3,269) (4,817)
Interest income 4 62 138
Interest expense 5 (929) (1,031)

Profit before taxation 6 17,998 15,212
tax expense 7 (4,929) (4,993)

Profit after taxation 13,069 10,219

disContinuEd oPErations 8
loss from discontinued operations 6 –  (5,295)

Profit for the year 13,069 4,924

attributable to:
equity holders of the Company 13,051 4,940
Minority interest 18 (16)

13,069 4,924

Earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 10
- Basic - continuing operations 3.63 2.84
- Basic - discontinued operations – (1.47)

- Diluted - continuing operations 3.62 2.83
- Diluted - discontinued operations – (1.47)

Consolidated Income Statement
For the financial year ended 30 June 2009

the accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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group Company
note 2009

$’000
2008

$’000
2009

$’000
2008

$’000
non-current assets
property, plant and equipment 11 62,416 62,183 217 417
Investments in subsidiaries 12 –  –  52,885 52,942
amounts due from subsidiaries 19 –  –  15,888 15,743
Investment in associate 13 –  –  15 15
long term investments 14 –  –  –  –  
Investment properties 15 5,828 9,387 –  –  
Goodwill 16 25 26 –  –  
Deferred tax assets 26 –  20 –  –  

68,269 71,616 69,005 69,117
Current assets
assets held for sale 8 –  500 –  –  
Inventories 17 40,936 48,565 –  –  
trade and other receivables 18 18,416 20,778 7 483 
prepaid expenses 1,526 580 25 11
amounts due from subsidiaries 19 –  –  9,753 4,769
amount due from associate 20 –  30 –  30
Fixed bank deposits 21 1,480 1,604 –  –  
Cash and bank balances 21 23,898 13,605 1,284 476

86,256 85,662 11,069 5,769
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft 23 –  451 –  –  
trade and other payables 22 22,020 28,261 1,580 1,356
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 23 27,563 33,814 25,930 31,550
amounts due to subsidiaries 19 –  –  862 1,056
Hire purchase creditors 24 143 124 75 76
tax payable 6,179 2,176 883 439

55,905 64,826 29,330 34,477
net current assets/(liabilities) 30,351 20,836 (18,261) (28,708)
non-current liabilities
long term loans from minority
 shareholders of subsidiaries 25 161 124 –  –  
Hire purchase creditors 24 194 324 140 215
Deferred tax liabilities 27 4,762 4,073 63 18
provision for long service payments 78 74 –  –  

(5,195) (4,595) (203) (233)
93,425 87,857 50,541 40,176

Equity attributable to equity
  holders of the Company
Share capital 28 34,931 34,931 34,931 34,931
reserves 29 58,355 52,808 15,610 5,245

93,286 87,739 50,541 40,176
Minority interest 139 118 –  –  
total equity 93,425 87,857 50,541 40,176

Balance Sheets
as at 30 June 2009

the accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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attributable to equity holders of the Company

group
share 
capital 

asset 
revaluation 

reserve
Capital 
reserve

share 
options 
reserve

Foreign 
currency 
transla-

tion 
reserve

revenue 
reserve

 
total

Minority 
interests

total 
equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

at 1 July 2008 34,931 11,869 453 491 (11,547) 51,542 87,739 118 87,857
revaluation deficit –   (2,634) –   –   –   –   (2,634) –   (2,634)
Share option lapsed –   –   –   (25) –   25 –   –   –   
transfer to deferred tax 

liabilities –   (1,097) –   –   –   –   (1,097) –   (1,097)
effect of exchange 

differences –   –   –   –   3,270 –   3,270 3 3,273
net income/(expenses) 

recognised directly in 
equity –   (3,731) –   (25) 3,270 25 (461) 3 (458)

profit for the year –   –   –   –   –   13,051 13,051 18 13,069
total recognised 

income/(expense) for 
the year –   (3,731) –   (25) 3,270 13,076 12,590 21 12,611

Grant of share options to 
employees –   –   –   166 –   –   166 –   166

Dividends (note 9) –   –   –   –   –   (7,209) (7,209) –   (7,209)
at 30 June 2009 34,931 8,138 453 632 (8,277) 57,409 93,286 139 93,425

at 1 July 2007 34,919 8,221 453 281 (6,354) 53,555 91,075 146 91,221
revaluation surplus –  3,858 –  –  –  –  3,858 –  3,858
release upon disposal of 

building –  (210) –  –  –  255 45 –  45
release upon liquidation 

of subsidiaries –  –  –  –  1,053 –  1,053 –  1,053
effect of exchange 

differences –  –  –  –  (6,246) –  (6,246) (12) (6,258)
net income/(expenses) 

recognised directly in 
equity –  3,648 –  –  (5,193) 255 (1,290) (12) (1,302)

profit for the year –  –  –  –  –  4,940 4,940 (16) 4,924
total recognised 

income/(expense) for 
the year –  3,648 –  –  (5,193) 5,195 3,650 (28) 3,622

Shares issued pursuant 
to the exercise of share 
options 12 –  –  –  –  –  12 –  12

Grant of share options to 
employees –  –  –  210 –  –  210 –  210

Dividends (note 9) –  –  –  –  –  (7,208) (7,208) –  (7,208)
at 30 June 2008 34,931 11,869 453 491 (11,547) 51,542 87,739 118 87,857

Statements of Changes in equity
For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
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 note
share 
capital

share options 
reserve

revenue 
reserve

 
total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company
at 1 July 2008 34,931 491 4,754 40,176
profit for the year, being total recognised income 

for the year –   –   17,408 17,408
Grant of share options to employees –   166 –   166
Share options lapsed –   (25) 25 –   
Dividends 9 –   –   (7,209) (7,209)
at 30 June 2009 34,931 632 14,978 50,541

at 1 July 2007 34,919 281 7,041 42,241
profit for the year, being total recognised income 

for the year –   –   4,921 4,921
Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of share 

options 12 –   –   12
Grant of share options to employees –   210 –   210
Dividends 9 –   –   (7,208) (7,208)
at 30 June 2008 34,931 491 4,754 40,176

Statements of Changes in equity
For the financial year ended 30 June 2009

the accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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 note 2009 2008
$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities:
operating profit before taxation and minority interest
- from continued operations 17,998 15,212
- from discontinued operations –   (5,888)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7,227 7,115
loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 198 7
Gain on disposal of investment properties –   (226)
Gain on disposal of property available for sale –   (15)
Impairment of long term investments –   3,898
Impairment of property, plant and equipment –   2,428
property, plant and equipment written off 232 895
asset held for sale written off 500 –  
Foreign currency translation realignment 1,846 (2,520)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 331 –  
loss on liquidation of YourHealth Group and subsidiaries –   549
Fair value loss/(gain) on revaluation of investment properties 700 (1,833)
Inventories written-down 239 1,078
reversal of write-down of inventories (446) (140)
long term investment written off –   2
advances (non-trade) written off 590 –   
Bad debts (trade) recovered (3) –   
Bad debts (trade) written off 172 2
Interest expense 929 1,031
Interest income (62) (138)
Share-based payment expense 166 210
operating income before reinvestment in working capital 30,617 21,667
Decrease in trade and other receivables 688 193
Increase/(decrease) in inventories 7,836 (10,572)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (5,610) 967
Cash generated from operations 33,531 12,255
Interest received 62 138
Interest paid (929) (1,031)
tax refund 554 –   
Income taxes paid (2,418) (4,104)
net cash provided by operating activities 30,800 7,258

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
For the financial year ended 30 June 2009
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 note 2009 2008
$’000 $’000

Cash flows from investing activities:
purchase of property, plant and equipment (note a) (6,797) (11,114)
proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 172 73
proceeds from sale of investment properties –   1,038
proceeds from sale of property available for sale –   569
net cash used in investing activities (6,625) (9,434)

Cash flows from financing activities:
proceeds from short-term loans 38,043 20,924
repayment of bank loans (44,294) (12,207)
payment of hire purchase creditors (125) (111)
repayment of long term loan from minority shareholders of 
  subsidiaries –   (55)
proceeds from share options exercised –   12
proceeds from loan from minority shareholders of subsidiaries 30 120
Dividends paid (7,209) (7,208)
net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities (13,555) 1,475
net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 10,620 (701)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 14,758 15,459
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 21 25,378 14,758

a. Purchase of property, plant and equipment

aggregate cost of property, plant and equipment acquired 11 6,812 12,089
less:
Financed by hire purchase creditors (15) –   
other payables –   (975)
Cash payments to acquire property, plant and equipment 6,797 11,114

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
For the financial year ended 30 June 2009

the accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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1. Corporate information

eu Yan Sang International ltd (the “Company”) is a public limited company which is incorporated in 
Singapore. the Company’s registration number is 199302179H. the registered office and principal place of 
business of eu Yan Sang International ltd is located at 269a South Bridge road, Singapore 058818.

the principal activities of the Company are investment holding and the provision of management services 
to its subsidiaries. the principal activities of the subsidiaries and associate are shown in notes 12 and 13 to 
the financial statement respectively.

2. summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in 
equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial reporting Standards 
(“FrS”).

the financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting 
policies below. 

the financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars ($)/SGD and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand ($’000) except when otherwise indicated. 

the accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group and the Company and are consistent 
with those used in the previous financial year, except as disclosed below. 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 

new standards effective for annual periods beginning on or after the dates are as stated:

reference description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning on 

or after

Int FrS 112 Service Concession arrangements 1 January 2008
Int FrS 113 Customer loyalty programme 1 July 2008
Int FrS 114 the limits on a Defined Benefit assets, Minimum Funding 

requirements and their Interaction
1 January 2008

 Int FrS 113, Customer loyalty programme

the interpretation addresses accounting for loyalty award credits granted to customers who buy other goods 
or services, and the accounting for the entity’s obligations to provide free or discounted goods or services to 
customers when the award credits are redeemed.

notes to the Financial Statements 
30 June 2009
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.2  Changes in accounting policies (Cont’d)

loyalty awards should be viewed as separately identifiable goods or services for which customers are 
implicitly paying and measured based on the allocated proceeds which represent the value of the award 
credits. the proceeds allocated to the award credits are deferred until the entity fulfils its obligations by 
supplying the free or discounted goods or services upon the redemption of the award credits.

the Group has adopted Int FrS 113, Customer loyalty programme during the financial year. 

During the current financial year, the Group launched its customer loyalty programme “eu rewards”, which 
allows customers to accumulate points when they purchase products in the Group’s retail outlets. the points 
can be redeemed for free goods from the Group’s retail outlets. 

the consideration received from the sale of goods is allocated to the goods sold and the points issued. the 
consideration allocated to the points issued is measured at the fair value of the points. It is recognised as a 
liability (deferred revenue) on the balance sheet and recognised as revenue when the points are redeemed, 
have expired or are no longer expected to be redeemed. the amount of revenue recognised is based on 
the number of points that have been redeemed, relative to the total number expected to be redeemed. the 
carrying amount of the Group’s deferred revenue as at 30 June 2009 was $854,000 (2008: $nil).

the other new standards do not apply to the Group. 

2.3 Future changes in accounting policies

the Group has not adopted the following FrS and Int FrS that have been issued but not yet effective:

reference description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning 

on or after

FrS 1 presentation of Financial Statements – revised presentation 1 January 2009
FrS 1 presentation of Financial Statements – amendments relating 

to puttable Financial Instruments and obligations arising on 
liquidation 

1 January 2009

FrS 23 Borrowing Costs 1 January 2009
FrS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – amendments 

relating to puttable Financial Instruments and obligations arising 
on liquidation 

1 January 2009

FrS 39 and
Int FrS 109

amendments to Int FrS 109 reassessment of embedded 
Derivatives and FrS 39 Financial Instruments: recognition and 
Measurement – embedded Derivatives 

30 June 2009

FrS 39 Financial Instruments: recognition and Measurement – 
amendments relating to eligible Hedge Items 

1 July 2009

FrS 101 First-time adoption of Financial reporting Standards – amendments 
relating to Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Joint Controlled 
entity or associate 

1 January 2009

notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2009
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.3 Future changes in accounting policies (Cont’d)

reference description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning 

on or after

FrS 102 Share-based payment – Vesting conditions and Cancellations 1 January 2009
FrS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Improving Disclosures about 

Financial Instruments 
1 January 2009

FrS 108 operating Segments 1 January 2009
Int FrS 116 Hedge of a net Investment in a Foreign operation 1 october 2008
Int FrS 117 Distribution of non-Cash assets to owners 1 July 2009
Int FrS 118 transfers of assets from Customers 1 July 2009

the directors expect that the adoption of the above pronouncements will have no material impact on the 
financial statements in the period of initial application, except for FrS 1 and FrS 108 as indicated below.

 FrS 1 presentation of Financial Statements – revised presentation

the revised FrS 1 requires owner and non-owner changes in equity to be presented separately. the statement 
of changes in equity will include only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes 
in equity presented as a single line item. In addition, the revised standard introduces the statement of 
comprehensive income: it presents all items of income and expense recognised in profit or loss, together 
with all other items of recognised income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked 
statements. the Group is currently evaluating the format to adopt.

 FrS 108 operating Segments

FrS 108 requires entities to disclose segment information based on the information reviewed by the entity’s 
chief operating decision maker. the impact of this standard on the other segment disclosures is still to be 
determined. the Group is in the process of determining the impact on the financial position and result of 
the Group.

2.4 significant accounting estimates and judgements

the preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and 
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the 
asset or liability affected in the future. 

 (a) Judgements made in applying accounting policies

  In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the amount 
recognised in the financial statements:

notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2009
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.4 significant accounting estimates and judgements (Cont’d)

 (a) Judgements made in applying accounting policies (Cont’d)

Income taxes

the Group has exposure to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in 
determining the Group-wide provision for income taxes. there are certain transactions and computations 
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. the 
Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will 
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in 
which such determination is made. the carrying amount of the Group’s tax payables, deferred tax 
assets and deferred tax liabilities at 30 June 2009 was $6,179,000 (2008: $2,176,000), $nil (2008: 
$20,000) and $4,762,000 (2008: $4,073,000) respectively.

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied properties

the Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property, and has developed 
criteria in making that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both. therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash flows largely 
independently of the other assets held by the Group. 

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another 
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative 
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), the 
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property 
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of 
goods or services or for administrative purposes.

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so 
significant that a property does not qualify as investment property.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

the Group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale financial assets. When the fair value 
declines, management makes assumptions about the decline in the value to determine where there 
is an impairment that should be recognised in the income statement. For the financial year ended 
30 June 2009, the amount of impairment loss recognised for available-for-sale financial assets was 
$nil (2008: $3,898,000). 

notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2009
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.4 significant accounting estimates and judgements (Cont’d)

 (a) Judgements made in applying accounting policies (Cont’d)

Impairment of loans and receivables

the Group makes allowance for impairment of receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability 
of trade and other receivables. allowances are applied to trade and other receivables where events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be recoverable. Management specifically 
analyses historical bad debt, customer creditworthiness, current economic trends and changes in 
customer payment terms when making a judgement to evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for 
impairment of receivables. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference 
will impact the carrying amount of trade and other receivables. the carrying amount of the Group’s 
loans and receivables at the balance sheet date is disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements.

 (b) Key source of estimation uncertainty

the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Customer loyalty programme

the Group allocates the consideration received from the sale of goods to the goods sold and the points 
issued under its eu rewards, customer loyalty programme. the consideration allocated to the points 
issued is measured at their fair values. Fair values is determined by applying statistical technique. In 
applying the statistical technique, the following factors are considered, among others: 

•	 the	range	of	products	available	to	the	customers
•	 the	prices	at	which	the	Group	sells	the	products	which	can	be	redeemed
•	 changing	patterns	in	the	redemption	rates

the carrying amount of the Group’s deferred revenue as at 30 June 2009 was $854,000 (2008: $nil). 

useful lives of property, plant and equipment

property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 
Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to be 3 - 50 years. the 
carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment at 30 June 2009 was $62,416,000 
(2008: $62,183,000). Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could 
impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation 
charges could be revised.

notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2009
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.4 significant accounting estimates and judgements (Cont’d)

 (b) Key source of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Impairment of non-financial assets

the Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each 
reporting date. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and at other times when such indicators 
exist. other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying 
amounts may not be recoverable.

When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash 
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
the present value of those cash flows. Further details of the key assumptions applied in the impairment 
assessment of goodwill, are given in note 16 to the financial statements. 

Fair value of employee share options

the Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair 
value of the employee share options at the date at which they are granted. Judgement is required in 
determining the most appropriate valuation model for the share options granted, depending on the 
terms and conditions of the grant. Management is also required to use judgement in determining the 
most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including expected life of the option, volatility and 
dividend yield. the assumptions and model used are disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements.

2.5 subsidiaries and basis of consolidation

 (a) Subsidiaries

a subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. the Group generally has such power when it directly 
or indirectly, holds more than 50% of the issued share capital, or controls more than half of the voting 
power, or controls the composition of the Board of Directors.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost 
less any impairment losses.

 (b) Basis of consolidation

  the consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries as at the balance sheet date. the financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for 
the same reporting date as the parent Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied for like 
transactions and events in similar circumstances.

notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2009
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.5 subsidiaries and basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

 (b) Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

  all intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions that are recognised in assets, are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method. the cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or 
assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.

any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities represents goodwill. the goodwill is accounted 
for in accordance with the accounting policy for goodwill stated in note 2.16.

any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities over the cost of business combination is recognised in the income statement 
on the date of acquisition.

 (c) transactions with minority interests

Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the 
Group and are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and within equity in the 
consolidated balance sheet, separately from parent shareholders’ equity. transactions with minority 
interests are accounted for using the entity concept method, whereby, transactions with minority 
interests are accounted for as transactions with equity holders. on acquisition of minority interests, 
the difference between the consideration and book value of share of the net assets acquired is reflected 
as being a transaction between owners and recognised directly in equity. Gain or loss on disposal to 
minority interests is recognised directly in equity.

2.6 associates

an associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the Group has significant influence. this 
generally coincides with the Group having 20% or more of the voting power, or has representation on 
the board of directors.

notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2009
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.6 associates (Cont’d)

the Group’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. under the equity method, 
the investment in associate is carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s 
share of net assets of the associate. the Group’s share of the profit or loss of the associate is recognised in 
the consolidated income statement. Where there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the 
associate, the Group recognises its share of such changes. after application of the equity method, the Group 
determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss with respect to the Group’s 
net investment in the associate. the associate is equity accounted for from the date the Group obtains 
significant influence until the date the Group ceases to have significant influence over the associate.
 
Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment.
 
any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities over the cost of the investment is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment 
and is instead included as income in the determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss 
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any 
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

the most recent available audited financial statements of the associates are used by the Group in applying 
the equity method. Where the dates of the audited financial statements used are not co-terminous with 
those of the Group, the share of results is arrived at from the last audited financial statements available and 
un-audited management financial statements to the end of the accounting period. Consistent accounting 
policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in associate is accounted for at cost less any 
impairment losses.

2.7 Functional and foreign currency

 (a) Functional currency

  the management has determined the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
Company and the Group operates i.e. functional currency, to be Singapore Dollar (“SGD”). Sales 
prices and major costs of providing goods and services including major operating expenses are 
primarily influenced by fluctuations in the respective functional currencies of the Company and 
its subsidiaries.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.7 Functional and foreign currency (Cont’d)

 (b) Foreign currency transactions

transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currency of the Company 
and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currency at exchange 
rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. non-monetary items measured 
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value was determined.

exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at 
the balance sheet date are recognised in the income statement.

 (c) Foreign currency translation

For the purpose of the presentation of financial statements, assets and liabilities of the foreign 
subsidiaries’ are translated into Singapore dollars at the exchange rate ruling at balance sheet date 
while share capital and reserves are translated at the historical rate of exchange. revenue and expenses 
are translated at average exchange rates for the year, which approximate the exchange rates at the 
dates of transactions. all resultant exchange differences are taken directly to equity as foreign currency 
translation reserve.

on disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of exchange differences deferred in equity 
relating to that foreign operation is recognised in the income statement as a component of the gain or 
loss on disposal.

2.8 revenue recognition

revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the revenue can be reliably measured. revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received 
or receivable. 

 (a) Sale of goods/services

revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of ownership of 
the goods to the customer. revenue is recognised to the extent where there are significant uncertainties 
regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods. revenue 
from medical and laboratory services are recognised upon the rendering of services.

 (b) rental income

rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms. 
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.8 revenue recognition (Cont’d)

 (c) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method) unless collectibility 
is in doubt.

 (d) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s or the Company’s right to receive payment is established.

 (e) revenue on award credits 

revenue on award credits are recognised based on the number of award credits that have been 
redeemed in exchange for free goods, relative to the total numbers of award credits expected to 
be redeemed. 

2.9 Property, plant and equipment

all items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. the cost of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Subsequent to recognition, plant and equipment and furniture and fixtures are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. land and buildings are measured at fair 
value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and impairment losses recognised after the date of the 
revaluation. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not 
differ materially from the fair value of the land and buildings at the balance sheet date. 

any revaluation surplus is credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve in equity, except to the extent 
that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the income statement, 
in which case the increase is recognised in the income statement. a revaluation deficit is recognised in 
income statement, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset carried in the 
asset revaluation reserve. 

any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of 
the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. the whole of the revaluation 
surplus included in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of an asset is transferred directly to retained 
earnings on retirement or disposal of the asset.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.9 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated on the 
straight line method to write off the cost or valuation of property, plant and equipment over their estimated 
useful lives. the estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Freehold buildings, leasehold land and buildings – 50 years
Furniture, fittings and equipment – 3 - 10 years
Motor vehicles – 5 years
renovations – 3 - 10 years
plant and machineries – 10 years

assets under construction included in property, plant and equipment are not depreciated as these assets are 
not available for use.

the carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

the residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed annually to ensure that the amount, 
method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no 
longer in use and no further charge for depreciation is made in respect of these assets. 

an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is 
included in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised.

2.10 investment properties

Investment properties are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, investment properties are 
measured at fair value and gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are 
included in the income statement in the year in which they arise. 

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. 
any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the income 
statement in the year of retirement or disposal. 

transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer to or 
from investment property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the 
fair value at the date of change in use. For a transfer from owner occupied property to investment property, 
the property is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment 
set out in note 2.9 up to the date of change in use. 
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.11 non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

a component of the Group is classified as a discontinued operation when the criteria to be classified as 
held for sale have been met or it has been disposed of and such a component represents a separate major 
line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single co-ordinated major line of business or 
geographical area of operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. a component 
is deemed to be held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use.

Immediately before the initial classification of the asset (or disposal group) as held for sale, the carrying 
amounts of the asset (or all the assets and liabilities in the group) are measured in accordance with the 
applicable FrS. upon classification as held for sale, non-current assets and disposal groups are measured 
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. any differences are recognised in the 
income statement.

2.12 impairment of non-financial assets

the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

an asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value. Where the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the income statement through the 
‘administrative expenses’ line item.

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement except for assets that are previously revalued 
where the revaluation was taken to equity. In this case the impairment is also recognised in equity up to the 
amount of any previous revaluation. 

an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. a previously recognised impairment loss 
is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset 
is increased to its recoverable amount. that increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss be recognised previously. Such reversal is 
recognised in the income statement unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the 
reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.13 Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial 
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

a financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. 
on derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum 
of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised directly in equity is 
recognised in the income statement.

all regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e. 
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. regular way purchases or sales are purchases 
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation 
or convention in the marketplace concerned.

 (a) loans and receivables

non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as loans and receivables. Such assets are initially recognised at fair values, 
plus directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, such assets are carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment losses. Gains and losses are 
recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as 
well as through the amortisation process.

the Group classifies the following financial assets as loans and receivables:

•	 cash	and	bank	balances,	fixed	bank	deposits;	and
•	 trade	and	other	receivables,	including	due	from	subsidiaries	and	associate.

they are included in current assets, except those with maturities later than 12 months after the balance 
sheet date which are classified as non-current assets.

 (b) available-for-sale financial assets

available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as 
available-for-sale or are not classified in any of the other categories of financial assets. after initial 
recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses being 
recognised in the fair value adjustment reserve until the investment is derecognised or until the 
investment is determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported 
in equity is included in the income statement.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.13 Financial assets (Cont’d)

 (b) available-for-sale financial assets (Cont’d)

the fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined 
by reference to the relevant exchange’s quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the 
balance sheet date. For investments where there is no active market, fair value is determined using 
valuation techniques.

  Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and 
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less impairment losses.

2.14 long term investments

long term investments are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. the accounting policy for the 
financial asset is stated in note 2.13.

2.15 intangible assets

 patents and trademarks

Costs relating to patents and trademarks, which are acquired, are capitalised and amortised on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of 5 to 15 years. they are assessed for impairment whenever there 
is an indication that the patents and/or trademarks may be impaired.

the amortisation period and method are reviewed at each financial year-end. the amortised expense is 
recognised in the income statement through the “administrative expenses” line item.

 research and development costs

research costs are expensed as incurred.

expenditure incurured on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the 
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available 
for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate 
future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure 
reliably the expenditure during the development. product development expenditure which does not meet 
these criteria is expensed when incurred. 

2.16 goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of 
the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities acquired. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.16 goodwill (Cont’d)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition 
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested 
for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired, by comparing 
the carrying amount of the unit, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the unit. Where 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is less than the 
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised 
for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the 
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included 
in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. 
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed 
of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the foreign operations and 
translated at the balance sheet date.

2.17 inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials on a first-
in-first-out basis and includes freight and handling charges. In the case of finished products, costs includes 
direct labour and attributable production overheads based on a normal level of activity. net realisable value 
is the estimated selling price less estimated costs necessary to make the sale and after making allowance for 
damaged, obsolete and slow-moving items.

2.18 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Capitalisation of borrowing 
costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the 
expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are 
ready for their intended use. If the resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
an impairment loss is recorded.

2.19 Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.19 Financial liabilities (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of financial liabilities other than 
derivatives, directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, except for derivatives, which are measured at fair value.

a financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. For financial 
liabilities other than derivatives, gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities 
are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process. any gains or losses arising from changes 
in fair value of derivatives are recognised in the income statement. net gains or losses on derivatives include 
exchange differences.

2.20 Provisions

provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the 
obligation can be estimated reliably.

provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it 
is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the 
provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a 
current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.21 impairment of financial assets

the Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired.

 (a) assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity 
investments carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. the amount of the loss is 
recognised in the income statement.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced 
directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance 
account are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.21 impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

 (a) assets carried at amortised cost (Cont’d)

to determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been 
incurred, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial 
difficulties of the debtors and default or significant delay in payments.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed. any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income 
statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the 
reversal date.

 (b) assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where 
the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that an 
impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value because its fair value 
cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery 
of such an unquoted equity instrument has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are 
not reversed in subsequent periods.

 (c) available-for-sale financial assets

Significant or prolong decline in fair value below cost, significant financial difficulties of the issuer 
or obligor, and the disappearance of an active trading market are considerations to determine where 
there is objective evidence that instrument securities classified as available-for-sale financial assets 
are impaired.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its 
cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment 
loss previously recognised in the income statement, is transferred from equity to the income statement. 
reversals of impairment loss in respect of equity instruments are not recognised in the income statement. 
reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through the income statement, if the 
increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised in the income statement.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.22 Employee benefits 

 (i) employee leave entitlement

  employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. a provision is 
made for the estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to balance 
sheet date.

 (ii) Defined contribution plan

  as required by law, the Group’s companies in Singapore and certain overseas subsidiaries make 
contributions to the state pension funds of the respective countries. Such contributions are recognised 
as compensation expenses in the same period as the employment that gives rise to the contribution.

 (iii) employment ordinance long service payments

Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the required number of years of service to 
the Group in order to be eligible for long service payments under the Hong Kong employment 
ordinance in the event of the termination of their employment. the Group is liable to make such 
payments in the event that such a termination of employment meets the circumstances specified in 
the employment ordinance.

a provision is recognised in respect of the probable future long service payments expected to be made. 
provision is based on the best estimate of the probable future payments which have been earned by the 
employees from their service to the Group at the balance sheet date.

 (iv) employee share option plan

the Company has in place an employees Share option Scheme for the granting of options to eligible 
employees to subscribe for shares in the Company. 

Details of the plan are disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements.

employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share options as consideration for services 
rendered. the cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to 
the fair value of the options at the date on which the options are granted. this cost is recognised in 
the income statement, with a corresponding increase in the employee share option reserve, over the 
vesting period. the cumulative expense recognised at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects 
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of 
options that will ultimately vest. the charge or credit to the income statement for a period represents 
the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2009



6 7E u  ya n  s a n g  i n t E r n a t i o n a l  lt d  |  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 0 9 

2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.22 Employee benefits (Cont’d)

 (iv) employee share option plan (Cont’d)

no expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where vesting 
is conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not 
the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are 
satisfied. the employee share option reserve is transferred to retained earnings upon expiry of the share 
options. When the options are exercised, the employee share option reserve is transferred to share 
capital if new shares are issued, or to treasury shares if the options are satisfied by the reissuance of 
treasury shares.

2.23 leases

 (a) as lessee

Finance leases, which effectively transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at amounts equal, at the inception of the lease, to the 
fair value of the leased item or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. lease 
payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to 
achieve a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 
Finance charges are charged directly to the income statement.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the 
lease term.

leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
leased item, are classified as operating leases. operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

the aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense 
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

 (b) as lessor

leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added 
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as 
rental income.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.24 taxation

 (i) Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. the tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Current taxes are recognised in the income statement except that tax relating to items recognised 
directly in equity is recognised directly in equity. 

 (ii) Deferred tax

  Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance 
sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

•	 	Where	the	deferred	tax	liability	arises	from	the	initial	recognition	of	goodwill	or	of	an	asset	or	
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;

•	 	In	respect	of	taxable	temporary	differences	associated	with	investments	in	subsidiaries,	associates	
companies and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future; and 

•	 	In	 respect	 of	 deductible	 temporary	 differences	 and	 carry-forward	 of	 unused	 tax	 credits	 and	
unused tax losses, if it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences and carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses 
can be utilised. 

the carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all 
or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. unrecognised deferred income tax assets are 
reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that 
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to 
the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.24 taxation (Cont’d)

 (ii) Deferred tax (Cont’d)

Deferred taxes are recognised in the income statement except that deferred tax relating to items 
recognised directly in equity is recognised directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business 
combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 

 (iii) Sales tax

revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

•	 	Where	 the	 sales	 tax	 incurred	 on	 a	 purchase	 of	 assets	 or	 services	 is	 not	 recoverable	 from	 the	
taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

•	 Receivables	and	payables	that	are	stated	with	the	amount	of	sales	tax	included.

the net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

2.25 segment reporting

a business segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products 
or services that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. a 
geographical segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products or 
services within a particular economic environment and that is subject to risks and returns that are different 
from those of components operating in other economic environments.

2.26 share capital and share issue expenses

proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

2.27 treasury shares

When shares recognised as equity are reacquired, the amount of consideration paid is recognised directly 
in equity. reacquired shares are classified as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from total 
equity. no gain or loss is recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation 
of treasury shares.
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2. summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.28 Contingencies

a contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not 
wholly within the control of the Group.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group.

2.29 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. these also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the 
Group’s cash management.

3. revenue

revenue for the Group represents sales of goods at invoiced value less returns and trade discounts, rental 
income and medical service income. 

revenue is analysed as follows:

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Sales of goods 207,914 194,541
Medical service income 14,328 13,683
rental income 223 280

222,465 208,504

4. interest income

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Interest earned from fixed bank deposits 62 138
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5. interest expense

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Interest expense on: 
- bank overdrafts 44 1
- hire purchase 15 22
- loans and borrowings 870 1,008

929 1,031

6. Profit before taxation/loss from discontinued operations

profit before taxation and loss from discontinued operations are stated after charging/(crediting):

group

Continuing operations
discontinued 

operations total
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 7,227 6,643 –   472 7,227 7,115
personnel expenses* 37,919 34,965 –   –  37,919 34,965
Foreign exchange gains (1,230) (169) –   –  (1,230) (169)
Foreign exchange losses 1,606 965 –   –  1,606 965
loss on disposal of property, plant 

and equipment 198 7 –   –  198 7
advances (non-trade) written off 590 –  –   –  590 –  
property, plant and equipment 

written off 232 895 –   –  232 895
assets held for sale written off 500 –   –   –  500 –   
Directors’ fee 161 169 –   –  161 169
Directors’ emoluments:
- Directors of Company 1,442 1,274 –   –  1,442 1,274 
- other Directors of subsidiaries 711 720 –   –  711 720
allowance for doubtful receivables 

- trade 2  1 –   –  2 1
Bad debts written off 172 2 –   –  172 2
Bad debts (trade) recovered (3) –   –   –  (3) –   
Share-based payment expense 166 210 –   –  166 210
Gain on disposal of investment 

property –   (226) –   –  –   (226)
Gain on disposal of property held for 

sale –   (15) –   –  –   (15)
Write back of allowance for 

inventory obsolescence (446) (140) –   –  (446) (140)
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6. Profit before taxation/loss from discontinued operations (Cont’d)

group

Continuing operations
discontinued 

operations total
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
allowance for inventory 

obsolescence 239 1,078 –   –  239   1,078
Impairment loss on property, plant 

and equipment 331 –   –   –   331 –   
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment 

properties 700 (1,833) –   –  700 (1,833)
loss on liquidation of subsidiaries –   –  –   549 –   549 
Impairment of long term investments –   3,898 –   –  –   3,898
Impairment of property, plant and 

equipment –   –  –   2,428 –   2,428
long term investment written off –   –  –   2 –   2

*  this includes amounts shown as directors’ remuneration and remuneration of key management 
personnel in note 32.

7. tax expense

the major components of income tax expense for the years ended 30 June are:

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000
Continuing operations
Current income tax
  Current income taxation 5,461 2,885
  under provision in respect of previous years 2 449
Deferred taxation 
  Movement in temporary differences (630) 1,648
  under provision in respect of previous years 322 11
  effect of change in tax rate (226) –   

4,929 4,993
discontinued operations
Current income tax –   (593)

4,929 4,400
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7. tax expense (Cont’d)

a reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the Group’s effective tax rate applicable to profit before taxation 
was as follows:

profit from continuing operations before taxation 17,998 15,212
loss from discontinued operations before taxation –   (5,888)
profit before taxation for the year 17,998 9,324

tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits of entities in the Group in the 
countries where the Group operates 2,318 2,211

adjustments:
expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,519 2,979
Income not subject to taxation (230) (711)
Deferred tax assets not recognised 339 254
utilisation of previous years’ tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances (152) (185)
under provision in prior years 324 460
effect of reduction in tax rate (226) –   
effect of partial tax exemption (93) (214)
others 130 (394)

4,929 4,400

the reconciliation is prepared by aggregating separate reconciliations for each national jurisdiction.

the corporate income tax rate applicable to Singapore companies of the Group was reduced to 17% for the 
year of assessment of 2010 onwards from 18% for year of assessment of 2009. the corporate income tax 
rate applicable to Malaysian companies of the Group was reduced from 27% to 26% and 25% for the year 
of assessment of 2009 and 2010 onwards respectively.

as at 30 June 2009, certain subsidiaries have unutilised tax losses amounting to approximately $1,778,000 
(2008: $2,295,000) available for setting-off against future taxable profit subject to the regulations and 
agreements by the relevant tax authorities. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised with regards to the 
tax losses as it is not probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow part or all the carry 
forward tax losses to be utilised.
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8. discontinued operations

 yourHealth group Pty ltd and its subsidiaries (“yourHealth group”)

on 18 January 2007, the Company announced that YourHealth Group had been placed under voluntary 
administration in view of better return to the creditors. this exercise has been completed in the previous 
financial year. Subsequently, YourHealth Group has been placed under liquidation. 

 red White and Pure Pte ltd (“rWP”)

the principal activities of rWp are that of retail of beauty products, provision of beauty services and retail 
of food and beverage. 

on 8 May 2008, the Directors announced that rWp had, on that date, entered into a Sale and purchase 
agreement (“Spa”) with Sanctuary Spa Group pte ltd (“SSG”) for the sale of entire business assets held by 
rWp for a sale consideration of $500,000. the business assets of $500,000 were classified as assets held for 
sale as at 30 June 2008. the sale transaction was expected to be completed by october 2008. 

on 12 January 2009, in view of the economic conditions and for various commercial reasons, rWp and 
SSG have agreed not to proceed with the disposal and subscription, and have entered into a settlement deed 
to terminate the Spa on mutually agreed terms.

In accordance to the settlement deed, both parties shall be fully and finally released from all obligations 
under the Spa. Both parties shall fully and finally waive and release the other party from any obligation/
claim/suit whatsoever kind of nature whether presently existing or arising in the future in relation to 
the termination.

the assets held for sale of $500,000 have been written off during the year.

the major classes of assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations are as follows: 

red White and Pure Pte ltd
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

property, plant and equipment –  500
assets being disposed of –  –  
assets classified as held for sale –  500
Carrying value of net asset directly associated with the disposed group –  –  
Gain on disposal –  –  
total consideration, satisfied by receipt of unquoted shares –  –  
net cash inflow on disposal of business –  –  
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8. discontinued operations (cont’d)

the results attributable to the discontinued operations for the financial year are presented as below:

yourHealth group
red White & Pure 

Pte ltd
rWP Food 

services Pte ltd total
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

revenue –  2,522 –  41 –  163 –  2,726
Cost of sales –  (1,740) –  (15) –  (113) –  (1,868)
Gross profit –  782 –  26 –  50 –  858
other operating income –  530 –  –  –  38 –  568
Distribution and selling 

expenses –  (692) –  (1,285) –  (651) –  (2,628)
administrative expenses –  (1,169) –  (969) –  (120) –  (2,258)
loss recognised on re-

measurement to fair value 
less costs to sell –  –  –  (2,428) –  –  –  (2,428)

loss from operations –  (549) –  (4,656) –  (683) –  (5,888)
Interest income –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  
Interest expense –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  
loss from discontinued 

operations before tax –  (549) –  (4,656) –  (683) –  (5,888)
taxation –  –  –  462 –  131 –  593
loss for the year from 

discontinued operations –  (549) –  (4,194) –  (552) –  (5,295)

the cash flows attributable 
are as follows:

operating –  (549) –  (2,097) –  (635) –  (3,281)
Investing –  –  –  (319) –  (27) –  (346)
Financing –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  
net cash outflows –  (549) –  (2,416) –  (662) –  (3,627)

9. dividends

group and Company
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

declared and paid during the year

First and final dividend for 2008 of 1.0 cent per share tax exempt one tier 
(2007: 1.0 cent per share tax exempt one tier) 3,604 3,604

Special dividend for 2008 of 1.0 cent per share tax exempt one tier 
(2007: 1.0 cent per share tax exempt one tier) 3,605 3,604

7,209 7,208
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9. dividends (Cont’d)

the Directors have proposed that a first and final dividend of 1.0 cent per share and a special dividend of 
1.2 cents per share, to be paid for in respect of the current financial year. this dividend will be recorded as 
a liability on the balance sheets of the Group and of the Company upon approval by the shareholders of the 
Company at the forthcoming annual General Meeting of the Company. 

10. Earnings/(loss) per share

 (a) Continuing operations

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year from continuing operations 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year from continuing operations 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would 
be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. 

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company 13,051 4,940
add: loss from discontinued operations attributable to ordinary 
 equity holders of the Company –  5,295
profit from continuing operations attributable to ordinary equity holders 
 of the Company used in computation of basic earnings per share 13,051 10,235

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for computing of basic 
earnings per share 360,435 360,407

effect of dilution - share options 445 653
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect 
 of dilution 360,880 361,060

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share
- continuing operations 3.63 2.84
- discontinued operations – (1.47)

Diluted earnings per share
- continuing operations 3.62 2.83
- discontinued operations – (1.47)

8,960,000 (2008: 5,620,000) of share options granted to employees under the existing employee share 
option plans have not been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they are 
anti-dilutive for the current and previous financial periods presented. 
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10. Earnings/(loss) per share (Cont’d)

 (b) discontinued operations

the basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations are calculated by dividing the 
“loss from discontinued operations attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company” by the 
“weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings and loss per share computation” and 
“weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution” respectively. these 
income statement and share data are presented above in caption (a) of this note.

11. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold 
land and 
buildings

long-term 
leasehold 
land and 
buildings

Furniture, 
fittings and
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

reno-
vations

Plant and
machineries

Cons-
truction 

in 
progress total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
group

Cost and valuation
at 1 July 2007 3,430 32,288 28,987 1,993 16,433 2,039 122 85,292
additions –  376 6,508 218 4,551 436 –  12,089
Disposals –  –  (631) (184) –  –  –  (815)
Written off –  –  (1,958) –  (1,965) (48) –  (3,971)
transfer –  –  (89) –  207 –  (118) –  
transfer to assets held for sale –  –  (341) –  (274) –  –  (615)
Fair value gain on revaluation 90 4,177 –  –  –  –  –  4,267
Write back on revaluation (25) (354) –  –  –  –  –  (379)
Foreign currency translation 

adjustment (189) (923) (1,936) (70) (1,784) (162) (4) (5,068)
at 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008 3,306 35,564 30,540 1,957 17,168 2,265 –  90,800
additions –  –  2,676 94 2,929 1,113 –  6,812
Disposals –  –  (123) (77) (241) (110) –  (551)
Written off –  –  (1,239) – (2,603) (476) –  (4,318)
transfer from investment 

properties –  2,852 –  –  –  –  –  2,852
Fair value gain/(loss) on 

revaluation 45 (2,736) –  –  –  –  –  (2,691)
Write back on revaluation –  (420) –  –  –  –  –  (420)
Foreign currency translation 

adjustment (156) 381 436 (17)  332 50 –  1,026
at 30 June 2009 3,195 35,641 32,290 1,957 17,585 2,842 –  93,510
representing -
  Cost –  –  32,290 1,957 17,585 2,842 –  54,674
  Valuation 3,195 35,641 –  –  –  –  –  38,836
  3,195 35,641 32,290 1,957 17,585 2,842 –  93,510
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11. Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Freehold 
land and 
buildings

long-term 
leasehold 
land and 
buildings

Furniture, 
fittings and
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

reno-
vations

Plant and
machineries

Cons-
truction 

in 
progress total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
group

accumulated depreciation and 
impairment

at 1 July 2007 –  – 18,669 993 3,632 1,502 –  24,796
Charge for the year 25 261 4,345 332 2,087 65 –  7,115
Disposals –  –  (575) (160) –  –  –  (735)
Written off –  –  (1,597) –  (1,431) (48) –  (3,076)
transfer to assets held for sale –  –  (63) –  (52) –  –  (115)
Impairment –  –  284 –  2,144 –  –  2,428
Write back on revaluation (25) (292) –  –  –  –  –  (317)
Foreign currency translation 

adjustment –  31 (1,224) (34) (148) (104) –  (1,479)
at 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008 –  – 19,839 1,131 6,232 1,415 –  28,617
Charge for the year –  426 2,629 315 3,309 548 –  7,227
Disposals –  –  (24) (33) (62) (62) –  (181)
Written off –  –  (1,143) – (2,515) (428) –  (4,086)
Impairment loss –  331 –  –  –  –  –  331
Write back on revaluation –  (420) –  –  –  –  –  (420)
Foreign currency translation 

adjustment –  120 553 – (963) (104) –  (394)
at 30 June 2009 –  457 21,854 1,413 6,001 1,369 –  31,094

net carrying value
at 30 June 2009 3,195 35,184 10,436 544 11,584 1,473 –  62,416
at 30 June 2008 3,306 35,564 10,701 826 10,936 850 –  62,183
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11. Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Furniture, 
fittings and 
equipment Motor vehicles renovations total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Company
Cost
  at 1 July 2007 497 729 83 1,309
  additions 87 –  –  87
  Disposal (109) –  –  (109)
  at 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008 475 729 83 1,287
  additions 22 –  –  22
  Disposal (3) –  –  (3)
  at 30 June 2009 494 729 83 1,306

accumulated depreciation
  at 1 July 2007 387 326 47 760
  Charge for the year 62 146 8 216
  Disposal (106) –  –  (106)
  at 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008 343 472 55 870
  Charge for the year 68 146 8 222
  Disposal (3) –  –  (3)
  at 30 June 2009 408 618 63 1,089

net carrying value
  at 30 June 2009 86 111 20 217
  at 30 June 2008 132 257 28 417
 

 (i) revaluation of freehold, leasehold land and building

  the Group and the Company have engaged CB richard ellis, W.M. Malik & Kamaruzaman and 
prudential Surveyors International ltd, independent professional valuers, to determine the fair value of 
its freehold, leasehold land and building. Fair value is determined by reference to open market values 
on an existing use basis. the date of the valuation was 30 June 2009. 

  If the revalued property, plant and equipment were measured using the cost model, the carrying 
amounts would be as follows: 

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Freehold land and buildings 1,820 1,837
leasehold land and buildings 17,209 17,681

19,029 19,518
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11. Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

the Group’s major properties are as follows:

location description Floor area
(sq ft)

tenure

(a)  no. 22 and 23, Jalan Dato 
Bandar, tunggal, negeri Sembilan, 
Malaysia

Shop 13,263 Freehold

(b)  no. 1 SS2/67 Sea park petaling 
Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia

Shop/hostel 5,216 Freehold

(c)  no. 36 and 38 leech Street, Ipoh, 
perak, Malaysia

Shop/warehouse 5,880 Freehold

(d)  no. 2 Jalan othman talib, no. 
1 lorong Iskandar Shah, Ipoh, 
perak, Malaysia

Warehouse 4,140 Freehold

(e)  no. 98 Jalan Idris Kampar, perak, 
Malaysia

Shop/warehouse 4,600 Freehold

(f)  no. 156 lebuh Chulia 
Georgetown, pulau pinang, 
Malaysia

Shop/warehouse 18,800 Freehold

(g)  lot no. lG15, lower Ground 
Floor, the Summit, Subang, 
Malaysia

Shop 778 Freehold

(h) 269&a&B&C South Bridge road,
 Singapore

Shop/office 15,048 lot 99871a – 999 years 
from 1 october 1823 
(813 years remaining); 
lot 99869K, 99868a & 

99866p – 999 years from 
1 october 1827 (817 

years remaining)

(i)  265a&B&C South Bridge road, 
Singapore

Shop/office 4,255 999 years from
1 october 1823

(813 years remaining)
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11. Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

location description Floor area
(sq ft)

tenure

(j)  273&a South Bridge road, 
Singapore

Shop/office 5,207 999 years from
1 october 1823

(813 years
remaining)

(k)  no. 2 persiaran 1/118C, Desu tun 
razak Industrial park II, Cheras, 
Kuala lumpur, Malaysia

Factory 7,200 99 years lease expiry 
20.3.2085

(l)  no. 4 persiaran 1/118C, Desu tun 
razak Industrial park II, Cheras, 
Kuala lumpur, Malaysia

Factory 11,360 99 years lease expiry 
20.3.2085

(m)  Ground Floor, 192 lai Chi Kok 
road, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Shop 617 75 years lease from 
23.3.1923, renewed for 

a further 75 years

(n)  10 Wang lee Street, Yuen long 
Industrial park, new territories, 
Hong Kong

office/factory/ 
laboratory/
warehouse

78,021 49 years lease from 
1.12.1998 to 30.6.2047

(o)  12 Wang lee Street, Yuen long 
Industrial park, new territories, 
Hong Kong

office/factory/ 
laboratory/
warehouse

21,380 49 years lease from 
1.12.1998 to 30.6.2047

group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
(ii)  net book value of property, plant and 

equipment under hire purchase 268 455 112 257
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12. investments in subsidiaries

Company
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

unquoted shares, at cost 24,865 24,865
less: Impairment loss (3,742) (3,685)

21,123 21,180
amount due from subsidiaries (1) 31,762 31,762

52,885 52,942

(1)  amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and non-trade in nature and relates to dividend 
receivable from the subsidiaries. During the financial year ended 30 June 2008, the management 
redesignated the amounts due from subsidiaries as indirect capital contribution by the Company 
as part of the Group funding structure. accordingly, the amount is recorded at cost as the fair value 
could not be determined.

the subsidiaries at 30 June are:

name of company

Country of 
incorporation 
and place of 

business Principal activities

Percentage of 
equity held by the 

group
2009 2008

% %

# eu Yan Sang (Singapore) 
private limited

Singapore Distribution and sale of traditional 
Chinese and other medicine

100 100

* eu Yan Sang (Hong Kong) 
limited

Hong Kong Investment holdings, manufacturing, 
processing, distribution and sale of 
traditional Chinese medicine

100 100

 
** eu Yan Sang (1959) 

Sendirian Berhad
Malaysia Investment holdings, distribution and 

sale of traditional Chinese and other 
medicine

100 100

# eu realty (Singapore) private 
limited

Singapore Investment holdings, property 
investment and sale of traditional 
Chinese and other medicine

100 100

** Weng li Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Commission agent in all kinds 
of pharmaceutical products and 
manufacturer of medical pills and 
capsules

100 100
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12. investments in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

name of company

Country of 
incorporation 
and place of 

business Principal activities

Percentage of 
equity held by the 

group
2009 2008

% %

** eu Yan Sang Heritage Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia property investment and sale of food 
and beverages

100 100

 
# eu Yan Sang Marketing pte ltd Singapore Distribution and sale of traditional 

Chinese and other medicine
100 100

 
++ eu Yan Sang (australia) pty ltd australia Investment holdings, distribution and 

sale of traditional Chinese medicine 
100 100

# red White & pure pte. ltd. Singapore Dormant 100 100

** eu Yan Sang Integrative 
Health Sdn. Bhd. 

Malaysia provision of integrative medical 
services and property investment

100 100

 
# eu Yan Sang Integrative 

Health pte. ltd.
Singapore provision of integrative medical 

services
100 100

# Yin Yang Spa products pte ltd Singapore Development, manufacturing and 
distribution of spa products

100 100

# iGates BioInnovation pte. ltd. Singapore Developing iGates, on advanced 
technology to decipher chemical 
components in traditional Chinese 
medicine

51 51

Held by subsidiaries

# eYS Ventures pte ltd Singapore Dormant 100 100

# rWp Food Services pte. ltd. Singapore Dormant 100 100

** Vistern Health Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Importation, distribution and sale of 
honey products

75 75

* eu Yan Sang (China 
Ventures) limited

Hong Kong Investment holdings 100 100
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12. investments in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

name of company

Country of 
incorporation 
and place of 

business Principal activities

Percentage of 
equity held by the 

group
2009 2008

% %

* eu Yan Sang Medical 
Services limited

Hong Kong provision of integrative medicine 
services

100 100

* top lot limited Hong Kong Dormant 100 100

* eu Yan Sang (properties) 
limited

Hong Kong Dormant 100 100

* eu Yan Sang (export) limited the British 
Virgin Islands

Dormant 100 100

* Supreme Bottled Bird’s
nests Co. limited

Hong Kong Importation, manufacturing, 
distribution and sale of bottled bird’s 
nests, canned drinks and packaged 
foods

90 90

* pronature (Hong Kong) 
limited

Hong Kong Sale of health food and beverages 100 100

++ Botanical Health resources, 
Inc.

united States
of america

Dormant 100 100

+ eu Yan Sang (thailand) 
limited

thailand Distribution and sale of traditional 
Chinese and other medicine 

79.4 79.4

++ eu Yan Sang (Macau) ltd. Macau Distribution and sale of traditional 
Chinese medicine and other 
medicine

100 100

++ eu Yan Sang trading 
(Guangdong) Co. ltd

people’s 
republic of 

China

Wholesale, import and export of tea 
leaves

100 100

++ pt eYS Ventures Indonesia Indonesia Dormant 100 100
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12. investments in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

name of company

Country of 
incorporation 
and place of 

business Principal activities

Percentage of 
equity held by the 

group
2009 2008

% %

^ eu Yan Sang (taiwan) Co. ltd republic of 
China

Distribution and sale of traditional 
Chinese and other medicine

100 100

** Yen & u Sdn Bhd Malaysia retailer of birds’ nest products 100 –

** optimum Sejati Sdn Bhd Malaysia trading in health supplements and 
provision of health care services

100 –

# audited by ernst & Young llp, Singapore
* audited by ernst & Young, Hong Kong
** audited by ernst & Young, Malaysia
^ audited by ernst & Young, Malaysia for purposes of consolidation
+ audited by eX-Cl Consulting Business Co., ltd
++ not required to be audited by law of country of incorporation
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13. investment in associate

group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

unquoted shares, at cost 15 15 15 15
Impairment loss (15) (15) – – 
 –  – 15 15

the associate as at 30 June is:

name of company

Country of 

incorporation and 

place of business Principal activities

Percentage of equity 

held by the group
2009 2008

% %

* eYS KangHong Herbal pte ltd Singapore Dormant 50 50

* the entity is in the process of striking off. 

the Group has not recognised losses relating to share of losses in associates which exceeds the Group’s 
interest. the Group’s cumulative share of loss at the balance sheet date was $15,000 [2008: ($26,000)], of 
which $11,000 [2008: ($6,000)] was the share of the current year’s profits. 

the summarised financial information of the associate is as follows:

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000
assets and liabilities:
Current assets –  13
non-current assets –  – 
total assets –  13

Current liabilities –  35
non-current liabilities –  – 
total liabilities –  35

results:
revenue –  – 
profit/(loss) for the year 22 (13)
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14. long term investments

group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

available-for-sale financial assets

unquoted shares, at cost 8,198 8,200 4,300 4,300
Impairment loss (8,198) (8,198) (4,300) (4,300)
Written off –  (2) –  – 
 –  – –  – 

15. investment properties

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

at 1 July 9,387 8,437
(loss)/gains from fair value adjustments recognised in the
  income statement (700) 1,833
transfer to owner occupied properties (2,852) – 
Disposal –  (812)
Currency realignment (7) (71)
at 30 June 5,828 9,387

Investment properties are stated at fair value, which had been determined based on valuation as at 30 
June 2009 performed by registered independent appraisers having an appropriate recognised professional 
qualification and recent experience in the location and category of the properties being valued. the 
valuations were arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties.

as disclosed in note 3, the property rental income earned by the Group for the financial year ended 30 June 
2009 from its investment properties, all of which are leased under operating leases, amounted to $176,000 
(2008: $229,000). Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising on the rental 
earning investment properties amounted to $135,000 (2008: $146,000). 
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15. investment properties (Cont’d)

the investment properties held by the Group as at 30 June are as follows:

description tenure of land Fair value
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

265 South Bridge road,  
Singapore

999 years lease from 1 october 1823 
(813 years remaining)

1,183 1,337

265B&C South Bridge road,  
Singapore

999 years lease from 1 october 1823 
(813 years remaining)

–  2,852

273B&C South Bridge road,  
Singapore

999 years lease from 1 october 1823 
(813 years remaining)

4,159 4,713

lot B1-36 lower Ground Floor,  
Skudai parade, Senai expressway, 
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

Freehold 155 157

no. 12-J-G, 12-J-1 and 12-J-2, Jalan 
tun Dr awang Bandar Bukit Jambul, 
penang, Malaysia

Freehold 331 328

5,828 9,387

16. goodwill

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

at 1 July 26 27
Currency realignment (1) (1)
at 30 June 25 26

Goodwill arose in the previous year from the transfer of 200,000 ordinary shares of rM1 each to Dual 
network Sdn Bhd (“DnSB”) in return for plant, equipment and inventories with a total cost of rM139,000. 
the excess of the value of these plant, equipment and inventories over the value of the ordinary shares is 
treated as goodwill. 
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17. inventories

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

at cost:
raw materials 4,155 4,232
Work-in-progress 3,277 4,468
packaging materials 257 225
Finished goods 24,146 26,973

31,835 35,898
at net realisable value:
Finished goods 9,101 12,667
Inventories stated at lower of cost and net realisable value 40,936 48,565

Finished goods are stated after deducting allowance for stock obsolescence of 999 1,426

analysis of allowance for inventory obsolescence:

at 1 July 1,426 831
Inventories written-down 239 1,078
reversal of write-down of inventories (446) (140)
Written off (225) (341)
exchange realignment 5 (2)
at 30 June 999 1,426

Consolidated income statement:
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales 106,023 100,910
Inclusive of the following charge/(credit):
- Inventories written-down 239 1,078
- reversal of write-down of inventories (446) (140)
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18. trade and other receivables 

group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

trade receivables
trade receivables 7,764 7,124 –  –  
Bills receivables 2,020 1,805 –  –  
allowance for doubtful receivables (189) (553) –  –  

9,595 8,376 –  –  

other receivables
Deposits 7,925 10,946 1 1
tax recoverable 501 789 –  –  
Sundry receivables 395 668 6 482

8,821 12,403 7 483
allowance for doubtful receivables –  (1) –  –  

8,821 12,402 7 483

trade and other receivables 18,416 20,778 7 483

 trade receivables

trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days’ terms. they are recognised at 
their original invoice amounts which represents their fair values on initial recognition.

trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Hong Kong Dollars 7,699 6,094
Malaysian ringgit 1,276 1,560
Singapore Dollars 386 616
united States Dollars 146 –  
others 88 106

9,595 8,376
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18. trade and other receivables (Cont’d)

 receivables that are past due but not impaired

the Group has trade receivables amounting to $901,000 (2008: $3,016,000) that are past due at the balance 
sheet date but not impaired. these receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their aging at the balance 
sheet date is as follows:

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

trade receivables past due:
less than 1 month 353 2,187
More than 1 month less than 3 months 98 639
More than 3 months 450 190

901 3,016

 receivables that are impaired

the Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the balance sheet date and the movement of the allowance 
account used to record the impairment are as follows:

trade receivables – nominal amounts 189 553
less: allowance for doubtful receivables (189) (553)

–  –  

Movement in allowance for doubtful receivables (trade) are as follows:
at 1 July 553 599
allowance for the year 2 1
Written off (328) – 
exchange realignment (38) (47)
at 30 June 189 553
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19. amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries

Company
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

due from subsidiaries
amounts owing by subsidiaries 36,839 29,465
SGD loans to subsidiaries (unsecured)
Bears interest between 2.34% - 2.92% (2008: 3.27% to 3.80%) per annum and 
have no fixed terms of repayment 8,357 8,023

45,196 37,488
allowance for doubtful receivables (19,555) (16,976)

25,641 20,512
Made up of: 
Current 9,753 4,769
non-current 15,888 15,743

25,641 20,512

Movement in allowance for doubtful receivables are as follows:
at 1 July 16,976 10,184
allowance for the year 2,579 6,792
at 30 June 19,555 16,976

the amounts owing by subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. the 
amounts are expected to be settled in cash.

 due to subsidiaries

the amount owing to a subsidiary is unsecured, bear interest at 2.34% to 2.91% (2008: 2.71% to 3.80%) 
and are repayable on demand. 

20. amount due from associate

the amount owing by associate is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment. the amount 
is expected to be settled in cash.
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21. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following 
balance sheet amounts:

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Cash and bank balances 23,898 13,605
Fixed bank deposits 1,480 1,604

25,378 15,209
Bank overdrafts (note 23) – (451)

25,378 14,758

Cash and short term deposits are denominated in the following currencies:

Hong Kong Dollars 14,174 8,207
Singapore Dollars 5,740 4,666
Malaysian ringgit 4,746 1,955
reminbi 312 –  
new taiwan Dollars 183 53
Indonesian rupiah 129 184
others 94 144

25,378 15,209

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates of 0% to 4.24% (2008: 0% to 5.32%) per annum. Short-term 
deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and two months depending on the immediate 
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates. the weighted 
average effective interest rate of short term deposits is 1.1% (2008: 3.3%) per annum.
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22. trade and other payables

group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

trade payables 8,178 14,850 –   –   

other payables
  accrued expenses 5,531 6,165 694 616
  Sundry provisions 2,744 4,232 848 711
  Sundry payables 4,713 3,014 38 29

12,988 13,411   1,580   1,356   
  Deferred revenue 854 - - -

13,842 13,411 1,580 1,356

trade and other payables 22,020 28,261 1,580 1,356

the Group operates a customer loyalty programme, eu rewards which allows customers to accumulate 
points when they purchase products in the Group’s retail outlets. the points can be redeemed for free 
goods from the Group’s retail outlets. the Group has recognised the full revenue from the sale of goods and 
recognised a separate liability for the obligation to exchange award credits for awards. 

Deferred revenue represents the revenue allocated to the points issued under the eu rewards programme 
that are expected to be redeemed but are still outstanding as at the balance sheet date. 

 trade payables

trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

Hong Kong Dollars 2,160 6,324 –  –  
Singapore Dollars 2,765 5,583 –  –  
Malaysian ringgit 3,203 2,943 –  –  
others 50 –   –  –  

8,178 14,850 –  –  

 other payables

other payables (excluding deferred revenue) are denominated in the following currencies:

Singapore Dollars 5,971 6,402 1,580  1,356  
Malaysian ringgit 3,484 3,738 –  –  
Hong Kong Dollars 3,474 3,158 –  –  
new taiwan Dollars 47 111 –  –  
others 12 2 –  –  

12,988 13,411 1,580  1,356  
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23. interest bearing loans and borrowings

group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Current:
ntD Bank overdraft, unsecured (note 21) –  451 –  –  

Floating rate loans, unsecured
ntD bank loans 1,107 –  –   –  
SGD bank loans 26,130 33,150 25,930 31,550
MYr bank loans 326 664 –   –  

27,563 33,814 25,930 31,550

total 27,563 34,265 25,930 31,550

the loans and borrowings bear interest between 2.34% to 8.50% (2008: 1.72% to 12.09%) per annum, and 
are secured by corporate guarantee issued by the Company. 

the interest rates of floating rate loans reprice at 0.75% to 1.75% (2008: 0.75% to 4.75%) per annum over 
respective banks’ prime rates or cost of fund. the current borrowings of the Group and the Company have 
maturities of one to six months from the end of the financial year. 

24. Hire purchase creditors

Minimum
payments

Present 
value of 

payments
Minimum 
payments

Present 
value of 

payments
2009 2009 2008 2008
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

group
Within one year 161 143 143 124
after one year but not more than five years 229 194 376 324
total minimum lease payments 390 337 519 448
less: amounts representing finance charges (53) –  (71) –  
present value of minimum lease payments 337 337 448 448

Company
Within one year 89 75 89 76
after one year but not more than five years 168 140 258 215
total minimum lease payments 257 215 347 291
less: amounts representing finance charges (42) –  (56) – 
present value of minimum lease payments 215 215 291 291

Included in the Group’s present value of payments is $101,000 (2008: $129,000) denominated in 
Malaysian ringgit. 

the average discount rate implicit in the Group’s and the Company’s hire purchases ranges from 2.2% to 
6.1% (2008: 2.2% to 6.1%) and 2.2% to 3.5% (2008: 2.2% to 3.5%) per annum respectively.
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25. long term loans from minority shareholders of subsidiaries

long term loans from minority shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and are not expected 
to be repaid in the foreseeable future.

26. deferred tax assets

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

at 1 July 20 – 
transfer from/(to) profit and loss (20) 20
at 30 June – 20

27. deferred tax liabilities

group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

at 1 July 4,073 3,361 18 18
provided during the year 803 1,110 45 – 
transfer to profit and loss (229) (381) – – 
amount credited to asset revaluation reserve 66 152 – – 
Disposal of building –  (90) – – 
Currency realignment 49 (79) – – 
at 30 June 4,762 4,073 63 18

Deferred tax liabilities: 

Differences in depreciation for tax purposes 1,332 1,565 63 18
revaluations for fair value 
- investment properties 2,201 2,320 – – 
- land and buildings 1,229 188 – – 

4,762 4,073 63 18

there are no income tax consequences (2008: $nil) attached to the dividend to the shareholders proposed 
by the Company but not recognised as a liability in the financial statements. 
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28. share capital

group and Company
2009 2008

$’000 $’000
Issued and fully paid:

at 1 July
  360,435,188 (2008: 360,378,938) ordinary shares 34,931 34,919
Issued during the year
  nil (2008: 56,250) ordinary shares –   12
at 30 June
  360,435,188 (2008: 360,435,188) ordinary shares 34,931 34,931

the holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. all 
ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions.

29. reserves

group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

asset revaluation reserve 8,138 11,869 –  – 
Capital reserve 453 453 –  – 
Share options reserve 632 491 632 491
Foreign currency translation reserve (8,277) (11,547) –  – 
revenue reserve 57,409 51,542 14,978 4,754
total reserve 58,355 52,808 15,610 5,245

 (a) asset revaluation reserve 

  asset revaluation reserve represents increase/decrease in the fair value of freehold/leasehold land and 
buildings, net of tax, and decreases to the extent that such decrease relates to an increase on the same 
asset previously recognised in equity. 

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

at 1 July 11,869 8,221
revaluation (deficit)/surplus (2,634) 3,858
release upon disposal of building –  (210)
transfer to deferred tax liabilities (1,097) –  
at 30 June 8,138 11,869
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29. reserves (Cont’)

 (b) Capital reserve 

 Capital reserve arose from acquisition of essence Holdings ltd in prior year. 

 (c) share options reserve

  Share options reserve represents the equity-settled share options granted to employees. the reserve 
is made up of the cumulative value of services received from employees recorded over the vesting 
period commencing from the grant date of equity-settled share options, and is reduced by the expiry 
or exercise of the share options. 

group and Company
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

at 1 July 491 281
Grant of share options to employee 166 210
Share options lapsed (25) –  
at 30 June 632 491

 (d) Foreign currency translation reserve

  Foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the 
Group’s presentation currency. 

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

at 1 July (11,547) (6,354)
net effect of exchange differences arising from translation of financial 

statements of foreign operations 3,270 (6,246)
realised upon liquidation of subsidiaries –  1,053
at 30 June (8,277) (11,547)
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30. Employee benefits

group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Staff cost (including executive directors)
- Salaries, bonuses and other costs 35,156 32,390 3,697 3,238
- Staff provident Fund 2,597 2,365 162 188
- Share-based payment expense 166 210 48 71

37,919 34,965 3,907 3,497

under the eu Yan Sang employees Share option Scheme (“eSoS”) the following options to subscribe for 
ordinary shares in the Company’s share capital, exercisable at any time during the dates indicated below, 
were outstanding as at 30 June 2009:

date of 
grant

as at
1.7.2008

number 
of options 
granted

number 
of 

options 
expired

number
of

options 
lapsed

number 
of

options 
exercised

at 
30.6.2009

Exercise 
price 
per 

share
Exercisable 

period
$

Esos 2000
31.3.2003 475,000 – – – – 475,000 0.280 31.3.2004 to 

30.3.2013
31.3.2003 356,250 – – – – 356,250 0.212 31.3.2004 to 

30.3.2013
15.12.2005 3,665,000 – – – – 3,665,000 0.534 15.12.2006 to 

14.12.2015
Esos 2006
13.11.2006 2,620,000 – – (325,000) – 2,295,000 0.683 13.11.2007 to 

12.11.2016
13.12.2007 3,000,000 – – – – 3,000,000 0.577 13.12.2008 to 

12.12.2017
29.12.2008 – 3,735,000 – – – 3,735,000 0.305 29.12.2009 to 

28.12.2018
10,116,250 3,735,000 – (325,000) – 13,526,250

 Fair value of share options

the fair value of services rendered in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the 
fair value of share options granted under the eSoS. the estimate of the fair value of the services received 
is measured based on a black-scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which 
the share options were granted. the following table states the inputs to the model used. the expected 
volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also 
not necessarily be the actual outcome.
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30. Employee benefits (Cont’d)

the weighted average fair value of options granted during the financial year was $0.028 (2008: $0.076).

29.12.2008 grant 13.12.2007 grant

expected dividend yield  (%) 4.08  3.45
expected volatility (%) 15.82 19.90
risk-free interest rate (%) 2.50 2.50
expected life of options (years) 4.8 4
Subscription price ($) 0.305 0.577
Share price at date of grant ($) 0.32 0.61

the information on directors participating in the eSoS and employees who receive 5 percent or more of the 
total number of options available under the eSoS is as follows:

name

aggregate options 
granted during the 

financial year

aggregate options 
granted since 

commencement of 
the scheme to 
30 June 2009

aggregate options 
exercised since 

commencement of 
the scheme to 
30 June 2009

aggregate options 
outstanding as at 30 

June 2009

Eys Esos 2000
directors
richard Yee Ming eu – 530,000 – 530,000
Clifford Yee Fong eu – 475,000 – 475,000
leslie Kim loong Mah – 362,500 – 362,500

Employees
KF tan – 150,000 – 150,000
alice Suet Ying Wong – 510,000 (310,000) 200,000
eng Hock lok – 450,000 (250,000) 200,000
Vincent Boon pian lim – 150,000 – 150,000

– 2,627,500 (560,000) 2,067,500

Eys Esos 2006
directors
leslie Kim loong Mah 200,000 650,000 – 650,000
Dr Jennifer Gek Choo lee – 160,000 – 160,000
Ian Wayne Spence – 160,000 – 160,000
Malcolm Man-Chung au – 160,000 – 160,000

Employees
KF tan 180,000 560,000 – 560,000
alice Suet Ying Wong 180,000 560,000 – 560,000
eng Hock lok 200,000 580,000 – 580,000
Vincent Boon pian lim 160,000 480,000 – 480,000

920,000 3,310,000 – 3,310,000
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31. Commitments

 (a) Capital commitments

  Capital expenditure contracted for as at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial 
statements are as follows: 

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Capital commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment 156 180

 (b) operating lease commitments – as lessor

the Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio as disclosed 
in note 15. these non-cancellation leases have remaining non-cancellable lease terms of between 1 
and 5 years. 

Future minimum lease payment receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are 
as follows:

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Within one year 91 192
after one year but not more than 5 years 15 119

106 311

 (c) operating lease commitments – as lessee

the Group leases certain properties under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. Most leases 
contain renewable options. Some of the leases contain clauses which provide for contingent rentals 
based on percentages of sales derived from assets held under operating leases. lease terms do not 
contain restrictions on the Group’s activities concerning dividends, additional debt or further leasing.

rental expense of the Group was $26,822,000 (2008: $23,010,000) for the year. Included in rental 
expense was contingent rental of $3,615,000 (2008: $2,700,000). Future minimum lease rental under 
non-cancellable leases as of 30 June are as follows:

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Within one year 22,157 18,300
after one year but not more than 5 years 23,354 20,463
More than 5 years – 45

45,511 38,808
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32. related party transactions

 (a) sale and purchase of goods and services

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the 
following significant transactions between the Group and related parties took place at terms agreed 
between the parties during the financial year: 

group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Dividend income from subsidiaries – – 19,138 17,574
Interest received from subsidiaries – – 354 411
Management fee received from subsidiaries – – 9,078 8,580
rental paid to a subsidiary – – 205 200
Interest paid to a subsidiary – – 59 80

 (b) Compensation of key management personnel

group
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits 4,783 4,386
Staff provident Fund 200 170
Share-based payment expense 91 135
total compensation paid to key management personnel 5,074 4,691

Comprise amounts paid to:
•	Directors	of	the	Company 1,442 1,274
•	Other	key	management	personnel 3,632 3,417

5,074 4,691

33. Contingent liabilities

group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Contingent liabilities not provided in the 
financial statements:

Corporate guarantees given to bankers for credit 
facilities granted to subsidiaries –  – 26,549 24,594
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34. loans and receivables

group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
non-current
Due from subsidiaries – – 15,888 15,743

Current
trade and other receivables 18,416 20,778 7 483
amounts due from subsidiaries – – 9,753 4,769
amount due from associate – 30 – 30
Fixed bank deposits 1,480 1,604 – – 
Cash and bank balances 23,898 13,605 1,284 476
total loans and receivables 43,794 36,017 26,932 21,501

35. Financial liabilities, carried at amortised cost

group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Current
Bank overdraft – 451 – – 
trade payables 8,178 14,850 – –
other payables 12,988 13,411 1,580 1,356
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 27,563 33,814 25,930 31,550
amounts due to subsidiaries – – 862 1,056

non-current
long term loans from minority shareholders of 

subsidiaries 161 124 – – 
provision for long service payments 78 74 – – 

48,968 62,724 28,372 33,962
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36. segment information

 reporting format

the primary segment reporting is determined to be business segments as the Group’s risks and rates of return 
are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services produced. Secondary information is 
reported geographically. 

 Business segments

the Company’s operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of products 
and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and 
services. tCM relates to manufacturing, processing, distribution and sale of traditional Chinese medicine, Clinics 
relates to the provision of traditional Chinese medical consultation, treatment and integrative medical services. 
others segment include the provision of rental of premises, sale of spa products and food and beverages.

 geographical segments

the Group’s geographical segments are based on the location of the Group’s assets. Sales to external 
customers disclosed in geographical segments are based on the geographical location of its customers. 

 allocation basis

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that 
can be allocated on a reasonable basis. unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, deferred tax 
assets and liabilities, loans and borrowings and related expenses.

the Group generally account for inter-segments sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third 
parties at current market prices.

notes to the Financial Statements
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36. segment information (Cont’d)

 (a) Business segments

the following tables present revenue and net income information for the Group’s industry segment for 
the years ended 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2008 and certain assets and liabilities information regarding 
the Group’s industry segment as at 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2008:

Continuing operations
discontinued 

operations

tCM Clinics others
Elimi-

nations total *
total 

operations
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2009
revenue:
Sales to external customers 206,694 14,328 1,443 –  222,465 –  222,465
Inter-segment sales 54,686 –  29,178 (83,864) –  –  –  
total revenue 261,380 14,328 30,621 (83,864) 222,465 –  222,465

results:
operating profits 32,366 1,866 (2,469) (12,898) 18,865 –  18,865
Interest income 62 –  62
Interest expense (929) –  (929)
profit before taxation 17,998 –  17,998
tax expense (4,929) –  (4,929)
profit after taxation 13,069 –  13,069
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36. segment information (Cont’d)

 (a) Business segments (Cont’d)

Continuing operations
discontinued 

operations

tCM Clinics others
Elimi-

nations total *
total 

operations
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

assets and liabilities:
Segment assets 123,037 3,715 26,240 – 152,992 – 152,992
unallocated assets –  – – – 1,533 – 1,533  

154,525 – 154,525

Segment liabilities 26,859 1,764 3,806 – 32,429 – 32,429
unallocated liabilities –  – – – 28,671 – 28,671

61,100 – 61,100

other segment information:
Capital expenditure: property 

plant and equipment 6,229 214 369 – 6,812 – 6,812
Depreciation of property, 

plant and equipment 6,038 695 494 – 7,227 – 7,227
other non-cash expenses 372 – 2,450 – 2,822 – 2,822

2008
revenue:
Sales to external customers 194,049 13,683 772 – 208,504 2,726 211,230
Inter-segment sales 61,043 – 26,549 (87,592) – – – 
total revenue 255,092 13,683 27,321 (87,592) 208,504 2,726 211,230

results:
operating profits 28,532 1,723 (4,896) (9,254) 16,105 (5,888) 10,217
Interest income 138 – 138
Interest expense (1,031) – (1,031)
profit before taxation 15,212 (5,888) 9,324
tax expense (4,993) 593 (4,400)
profit after taxation 10,219 (5,295) 4,924

*  Discontinued operations of its subsidiaries, YourHealth Group, red White and pure pte ltd and 
rWp Food Services pte ltd. (note 8) 
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36. segment information (Cont’d)

 (a) Business segments (Cont’d)

Continuing operations
discontinued 

operations

tCM Clinics others
Elimi-

nations total *
total 

operations
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

assets and liabilities:
Segment assets 122,516 3,612 23,786 – 149,914 1,173 151,087
unallocated assets –  – – – 6,191 – 6,191  

156,105 1,173 157,278

Segment liabilities 30,458 2,858 2,038 – 35,354 413 35,767
unallocated liabilities –  – – – 33,654 – 33,654

69,008 413 69,421

other segment information:
Capital expenditure: property 

plant and equipment 10,441 615 978 – 12,034 55 12,089
Depreciation of property, 

plant and equipment 5,620 700 323 – 6,643 472 7,115
other non-cash expenses 1,085 – 5,136 – 6,221 2,979 9,200

*  Discontinued operations of its subsidiaries, YourHealth Group, red White and pure pte ltd and 
rWp Food Services pte ltd. (note 8) 

 (b) geographical segments

the following table presents revenue, capital expenditure and certain asset information regarding the 
Group’s geographical segments for the years ended 30 June 2009 and 2008:

singapore Malaysia Hong Kong others Eliminations total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2009
revenue:
Sales to external customers 62,424 60,846 98,809 386 –  222,465
Inter-segment sales 30,329 11,360 42,175 –  (83,864) –  
Segment revenue 92,753 72,206 140,984 386 (83,864) 222,465
less: Sales attributable to 

discontinued operations –  –  –  –  –  –  
revenue from continuing operations 92,753 72,206 140,984 386 (83,864) 222,465

other segment information:
Segment assets 45,803 31,630 76,686 406 –  154,525
Deferred tax assets –  –  –  –  –  –  
total assets 45,803 31,630 76,686 406 –  154,525
Segment liabilities 40,627 9,596 10,876 1 –  61,100

other segment information:
Capital expenditure: property, plant 

and equipment 1,794 3,016 2,002 –  –  6,812
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36. segment information (Cont’d)

 (b) geographical segments (Cont’d)

singapore Malaysia Hong Kong others Eliminations total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2008
revenue:
Sales to external customers 60,286 52,948 95,015 2,981 – 211,230
Inter-segment sales 28,332 10,065 49,195 – (87,592) – 
Segment revenue 88,618 63,013 144,210 2,981 (87,592) 211,230
less: Sales attributable to 

discontinued operations (204) – – (2,522) – (2,726)
revenue from continuing operations 88,414 63,013 144,210 459 (87,592) 208,504

other segment information:
Segment assets 52,873 31,826 72,294 265 – 157,258 
Deferred tax assets – – – 20 – 20
total assets 52,873 31,826 72,294 285 – 157,278

Segment liabilities 48,349 8,415 12,656 1 – 69,421

other segment information:
Capital expenditure: property, plant 

and equipment 3,645 5,049 3,395 – – 12,089

37. Financial risk management objectives and policies

the Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank loans, fixed deposits and cash and bank balances. 
the main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. the Group 
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables and trade and other 
payables, which arise directly from its operations. 

the main risk arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign 
currency risk and credit risk. Financial risk management policies are periodically reviewed and approved 
by the Board of Directors.

the Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. 

 interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. the Group’s and the Company’s 
exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from their interest-bearing loans and borrowings. Surplus funds 
are placed with reputable banks. 

the Group’s and the Company’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings are contractually repriced at interval 
of 1 to 6 months (2008: 1 to 6 months) from the date of balance sheet date. 

notes to the Financial Statements
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37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

 interest rate risk (Cont’d)

the following tables set out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk:

Within 1 year 2-5 years
More than 

5 years total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2009
group

Floating rate
Cash assets 25,378 –  –  25,378
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 27,563 –  –  27,563

Fixed rate
Hire purchase creditors 143 194 –  337

Company

Floating rate
Cash assets 1,284 – – 1,284
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 25,930 – – 25,930
amount due from a subsidiary 8,357 – – 8,357
amount due to a subsidiary (non-trade) 862 – – 862

Fixed rate
Hire purchase creditors 75 140 – 215

2008
group

Floating rate
Cash assets 15,209 – – 15,209
Bank overdraft 451 – – 451
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 33,814 – – 33,814
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37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

 interest rate risk (Cont’d)

Within 1 year 2-5 years
More than 

5 years total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2008
group

Fixed rate
Hire purchase creditors 124 324 – 448

Company

Floating rate
Cash assets 476 – – 476
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 31,550 – – 31,550
amount due from a subsidiary 8,023 – – 8,023
amount due to a subsidiary (non-trade) 1,056 – – 1,056

Fixed rate
Hire purchase creditors 76  215 – 291

 Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

as at 30 June 2009, assuming that the market interest is 50 basis points higher or lower than the market 
interest rate and with no change to the other variables, the interest expense on borrowings would be higher 
or lower by $138,000 (2008: $171,000). the change of 50 basis points used for both years approximated 
the range of interest rate movement during the financial years.

this analysis assumes that other variables remain constant.

 liquidity risk

liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial 
obligations due to shortage of funds. the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises 
primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. the Group’s and the Company’s 
objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by 
credit facilities.

the Group’s cash and short term deposits, operating cashflows, availability of banking facilities and debt 
maturity profile are actively managed to ensure adequate working capital requirement and that repayment 
and funding needs are met. 

notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2009



1 1 1E u  ya n  s a n g  i n t E r n a t i o n a l  lt d  |  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 0 9 

37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

 liquidity risk (Cont’d)

the table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities at the 
balance sheet date based on contractual undiscounted payments:

 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years total
$’000 $’000 $’000

group
2009

trade payables 8,178 – 8,178
other payables 12,988 – 12,988
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 27,563 – 27,563
Hire purchase creditors 161 229 390

48,890 229 49,119

2008

Bank overdraft 451 – 451
trade payables 14,850 – 14,850
other payables 13,411 – 13,411
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 33,814 – 33,814
Hire purchase creditors 143 376 519

62,669 376 63,045

 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Company
2009

other payables 1,580 – 1,580
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 25,930 – 25,930
Due to a subsidiary (non-trade) 862 – 862
Hire purchase creditors 89 168 257

28,461 168 28,629

2008

other payables 1,356 – 1,356
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 31,550 – 31,550 
Due to a subsidiary (non-trade) 1,056 – 1,056
Hire purchase creditors 89 258 347

34,051 258 34,309
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37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

 Foreign currency risk

the Group is exposed to the effects of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuation, primarily in relation 
to the Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”) and Malaysia ringgit (“MYr”). Whenever possible, the Group seeks 
to maintain a natural hedge through matching of liabilities, including borrowings against assets in the 
name currencies or against the subsidiaries’ functional currencies, in particular in future revenue stream. 
translation exposures and exposure to foreign currency risk is monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group 
endeavours to keep the net exposure at an acceptable level. 

  In relation to its overseas investment in foreign subsidiaries where net assets are exposed to currency 
translation risks and which are held for long term investment purposes, the difference arising from such 
translation are recorded under the foreign currency translation reserve. the translation differences are 
reviewed and monitored on a regular basis. 

 Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

  the following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the HKD and MYr 
against the SGD, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit net of tax:

group
Profit net of tax

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

HKd
- strengthened 5% (2008: 5%) 812 1,189
- weakened 5% (2008: 5%) (812) (1,189)

Myr
- strengthened 5% (2008: 5%) (72) (192)
- weakened 5% (2008: 5%) 72 192

 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty 
default on its obligations. the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade 
and other receivables. For other financial assets (including cash and cash equivalents), the Group and the 
Company minimise credit risk by dealing with high credit rating counterparties. 

the Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased 
credit risk exposure. the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s 
policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In 
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure 
to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that do not occur in the country of the relevant operating 
unit, the Group will perform more stringent credit verification procedures before offering credit terms to the 
overseas customers. 

notes to the Financial Statements
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37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

 Credit risk (Cont’d)

Concentrations of credit risk exist when changes in economic, industry or geographical factors similarly 
affect the group of counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in relation to the Group’s 
total credit exposure. as the Group transacts with a diversity of counterparties in different countries, the 
Group does not have any significant exposure to any individual customers. 

 exposure to credit risk

  at the balance sheet date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by:

 – the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the balance sheets; and
 –  a nominal amount of $26,549,000 (2008: $24,594,000) relating to a corporate guarantee provided by 

the Company to the banks on certain subsidiaries’ bank loans.

 as at 30 June 2009, there was no significant concentration of credit risk.

38. Fair value of financial instruments

the fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or 
settled between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced or 
liquidation sale.

 Financial instruments whose carrying amounts approximate fair value

Management has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and short term deposits, current trade and 
other receivables, current trade and other payables, balances due from/to subsidiary/associate, based on 
their notional amounts, reasonably approximate their fair values because these are mostly short term in 
nature or are repriced frequently.

 investment in equity instruments carried at cost

Fair value information has not been disclosed for the Group’s investment in equity instruments that are 
carried at cost as fair value cannot be measured reliably. 
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39. Capital management

the primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating 
and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

the Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions. to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. no changes were made in the objectives, 
policies or processes during the years ended 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2008.

the Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by the sum of total capital and 
net debt. net debt is calculated as interest-bearing loans and borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 
Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company. 

2009 2008
$’000 $’000

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 27,563 34,265
less: Cash and cash equivalents (25,378) (15,209)
net debt 2,185 19,056

equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent/total capital 93,286 87,739

Capital and net debt 95,471 106,795

Gearing ratio 2% 18%

40. authorisation of financial statements for issue

the financial statements of eu Yan Sang International ltd and its Subsidiaries for the financial year ended 30 
June 2009 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 18 September 2009.
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Class of equity securities number of equity securities Voting rights

ordinary shares 360,435,188 one vote for each share

distriBution oF sHarEHoldings

number of
size of shareholdings shareholders % number of shares %

1 – 999 196 5.05 65,685 0.02
1,000 – 10,000 2,932 75.55 7,922,800 2.20
10,001 – 1,000,000 722 18.60 44,524,132 12.35
1,000,001 and above 31 0.80 307,922,571 85.43

3,881 100.00 360,435,188 100.00

suBstantial sHarEHoldErs
(as recorded in the register of Substantial Shareholders)

dirECt intErEst % dEEMEd intErEst %

euco Investments pte ltd (“euco”) 15,711,767 4.36 53,027,500 (i) 14.71

Bestand Development Corporation (“Bestand”) – – 26,263,535 (ii) 7.29

aberdeen asset Management plc (“aaM”) – – 25,654,500 (iii) 7.12

aberdeen asset Management asia ltd (“aaMa”) – – 25,654,500 (iv) 7.12

aberdeen International Fund Managers 
limited (“aIFM”) – – 22,618,000 (v) 6.28

Credit Suisse Group aG – – 25,654,500(vi) 7.12

Credit Suisse – – 25,654,500(vi) 7.12

Clifford Yee Fong eu 190,743 0.05 85,739,267 (vii) 23.79

laurence Yee lye eu 675,000 0.19 68,739,267 (viii) 19.07

richard Yee Ming eu – – 53,945,143 (ix) 14.97

Billy Wah Yan Ma – – 28,605,845 (x) 7.94

robert James Yee Sang eu – – 26,263,535 (xi) 7.29

Statistics of Shareholdings
as at 15 September 2009



1 1 6

Statistics of Shareholdings
as at 15 September 2009

notes:

(i) euco’s deemed interests relates to shares held in trust by its nominees as follows:

 no. of shares

overseas union Bank nominees (pte) ltd 9,437,500
Southern nominees (Singapore) Sdn Bhd 16,250,000
oversea-Chinese Bank nominees pte ltd 8,927,500
DBS nominees pte ltd 8,037,500
Deutsche Bank aG 5,375,000
Singapura Finance ltd 5,000,000

(ii) Bestand’s deemed interests relates to shares held in trust by its nominee, HSBC (Singapore) nominees pte ltd.

(iii) aaM’s deemed interest relates to Shares deemed to be held by the following:

 no. of shares

aberdeen asset Management asia limited 25,654,500
aberdeen International Fund Managers limited 20,314,000

 
number of shares held with voting rights and disposal rights – 25,654,500.

(iv) aaMa’s deemed interest relates to Shares held in various investment funds (and under various nominee 
accounts). number of shares held with voting rights and disposal rights – 25,654,500.

(v) aIFM’s deemed interest relates to Shares held in various investment funds (and under various nominee 
accounts). number of shares held with voting rights and disposal rights – 22,618,000.

(vi) By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies act, Credit Suisse is deemed to be interested in the shares held by 
aberdeen asset Management plC and its subsidiaries. Credit Suisse is a subsidiary of Credit Suisse Group aG.

(vii) By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies act, Clifford Yee Fong eu is deemed to be interested in all the 
9,500,000 Shares held in trust by his nominees, 68,739,267 Shares held by euco (by itself or in trust by its 
nominees); 5,625,000 Shares of perpetual Investments ltd (held in trust by its nominee), 1,875,000 Shares 
owned by his wife.

(viii) laurence Yee lye eu is deemed interested in all the Shares held by euco (by itself or in trust by its nominees) 
by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies act.

(ix) the deemed interests of richard Yee Ming eu relates to Shares held in trust by his nominees. He is also 
deemed to be interested in 12,725,000 Shares owned by his wife (held in trust by her nominees).

(x) By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies act, Billy Wah Yan Ma is deemed to be interested in all the Shares 
held by Bestand and 2,342,310 Shares held by uoB Kay Hian private limited.

(xi) robert James Yee Sang eu is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Bestand by virtue of Section 
7 of the Companies act.
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Statistics of Shareholdings
as at 15 September 2009

tWEnty largEst sHarEHoldErs
 
no. name of shareholders number of shares %

1 HSBC (SInGapore) noMIneeS pte ltD 76,277,550 21.16
2 Hl BanK noMIneeS (S) pte ltD 28,520,143 7.91
3 Bnp parIBaS SeCurItIeS SerVICeS SInGapore  22,618,000 6.28
4 CIMB BanK noMIneeS (S) SDn BHD 16,275,000 4.52
5 CItIBanK noMIneeS SInGapore pte ltD 14,694,570 4.08
6 uoB noMIneeS (2006) pte ltD  12,827,500 3.56
7 leonG KWeI CHun       12,797,955 3.55
8 DBS noMIneeS pte ltD     11,852,000 3.29
9 DaVID eu Yee tat       11,487,806 3.19
10 raCer InVeStMentS lIMIteD   10,000,000 2.77
11 HonG leonG FInanCe noMIneeS pte ltD 7,730,000 2.14
12 oVerSea-CHIneSe BanK noMIneeS pte ltD 7,000,000 1.94
13 DB noMIneeS (S) pte ltD    5,630,000 1.56
14 SBS noMIneeS pte ltD     5,000,000 1.39
15 eu Yee KWonG GeoFFreY     4,738,667 1.31
16 euCo InVeStMentS pte ltD   4,497,267 1.25
17 uoB KaY HIan pte ltD     4,071,810 1.13
18 MaYBan noMIneeS (S) pte ltD  4,000,000 1.11
19 aMFraSer SeCurItIeS pte. ltD. 3,437,500 0.95
20 unIteD oVerSeaS BanK noMIneeS (pte) ltD 2,810,500 0.78

total 266,266,268 73.87

PErCEntagE oF sHarEHolding in PuBliC’s Hands

approximately, 31.03% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of the public. accordingly, the Company 
has complied with rule 723 of the listing Manual of the SGX-St.
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notICe IS HereBY GIVen that the annual General Meeting of eu Yan Sang International ltd. (“the Company”) 
will be held at Glass Hall, Singapore art Museum, 71 Bras Basah road, Singapore 189555 on thursday,  
29 october 2009 at 3:00 pm for the following purposes:

as ordinary BusinEss

1.  to receive and adopt the Directors’ report and the audited accounts of the Company for the year ended 30 
June 2009 together with the auditors’ report thereon. (resolution 1)

  
2.  to declare a first and final dividend of 1.0 cent per ordinary share and a special dividend of 1.2 cents per 

ordinary share (or a total of 2.2 cents per ordinary share) (one-tier tax exempt) for the year ended 30 June 
2009 [2008: a first and final dividend of 1.0 cent per ordinary share and a special dividend of 1.0 cent per 
ordinary share (or a total of 2.0 cents per ordinary share)]. (resolution 2)

3.  to re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to article 109 of the articles of 
association of the Company:

  
 Mr Malcolm Man-Chung au (resolution 3)
 Mr Clifford Yee Fong eu (resolution 4)

  Mr Malcolm Man-Chung au will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of the 
audit Committee, the nominating Committee and the Strategic Direction Committee and will be considered 
independent for the purposes of rule 704(8) of the listing Manual of the Singapore exchange Securities 
trading limited.

  Mr Clifford Yee Fong eu will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, be considered non-
independent for the purposes of rule 704(8) of the listing Manual of the Singapore exchange Securities 
trading limited.

4.  to approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$176,000 for the year ending 30 June 2010, to be paid 
quarterly in arrears (2009: S$161,000). (resolution 5)

5.  to re-appoint Messrs ernst & Young llp as the auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors of the 
Company to fix their remuneration. (resolution 6)

  
6. to transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an annual General Meeting. 

notice of annual General Meeting
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as sPECial BusinEss

to consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as ordinary resolution, with or without 
any modifications:
  
7. authority to issue shares up to 50 per centum (50%) of the issued shares in the capital of the Company

  that pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies act, Cap. 50 and rule 806 of the listing Manual of the Singapore 
exchange Securities trading limited, the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to: 

(a) (i) issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

 (ii)  make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would 
require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as 
adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares,

  at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the 
Directors of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b)  (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue 
shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this 
resolution was in force,

provided that:

(1)  the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made 
or granted pursuant to this resolution) and Instruments to be issued pursuant to this resolution shall 
not exceed fifty per centum (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in 
the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the 
aggregate number of shares and Instruments to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing 
shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per centum (20%) of the total number of issued 
shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-
paragraph (2) below);

(2)  (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore exchange Securities trading limited) 
for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares and Instruments that may be issued 
under sub-paragraph (1) above, the percentage of issued shares and Instruments shall be based on the 
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time of 
the passing of this resolution, after adjusting for: 

 (a)  new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible securities;
 (b)  new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding and 

subsisting at the time of the passing of this resolution; and 
 (c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;
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(3)  in exercising the authority conferred by this resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions 
of the listing Manual of the Singapore exchange Securities trading limited for the time being in force 
(unless such compliance has been waived by the Singapore exchange Securities trading limited) and 
the articles of association of the Company; and 

 (4)  unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force 
(i) until the conclusion of the next annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the 
next annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier or 
(ii) in the case of shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this 
resolution, until the issuance of such shares in accordance with the terms of the Instruments.

 [See explanatory note] (resolution 7)
  
 

By order of the Board

Heng Hang Siong @ Heng Hock Kiong
tan Cher liang
Company Secretaries

Singapore, 13 october 2009
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Explanatory note:

the ordinary resolution 7 in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date 
of this Meeting until the date of the next annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next 
annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by 
the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant instruments convertible 
into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the 
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may 
be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares in the capital 
of the Company will be calculated based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the 
capital of the Company at the time this ordinary resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from 
the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible securities, the exercise of share options or the 
vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time when this ordinary resolution is passed and any 
subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

notes:

1.  a Member entitled to attend and vote at the annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) is entitled to appoint 
a proxy to attend and vote in his/her stead. a proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

  
2.  the instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 269a 

South Bridge road, Singapore 058818 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for 
holding the Meeting.
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Eu yan sang intErnational ltd.
Company registration no. 199302179H
(Incorporated In the republic of Singapore)

ProXy ForM
(please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

I/We, 

of 
being a member/members of  eu Yan Sang International ltd.  (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

name nriC/Passport no. Proportion of shareholdings

no. of shares %
address

and/or (delete as appropriate)
name nriC/Passport no. Proportion of shareholdings

no. of shares %
address

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our 
proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company 
to be held on thursday, 29 october 2009 at 3:00 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/
proxies to vote for or against the resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific 
direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjournment 
thereof, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. the authority herein includes the 
right to demand or to join in demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “against” with a tick [√] within the box provided.)

no. resolutions relating to: For against

 1 Directors’ report and audited accounts for the year ended 30 June 2009 

2 payment of proposed first & final dividend of 1.0 cent per ordinary share and a 
special dividend of 1.2 cents per ordinary share

3 re-election of Mr Malcolm Man-Chung au as a Director

4 re-election of Mr Clifford Yee Fong eu as a Director

5 approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$176,000 for the year ending 30 June 2010

6 re-appointment of Messrs ernst & Young llp as auditors and to authorise the 
Directors to fix their remuneration

7 authority to allot and issue new shares

Dated this  day of  2009

total number of shares in: no. of shares
(a)  CDp register
(b)  register of Members

Signature of Shareholder(s)
or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

iMPortant:

1.  For investors who have used their CpF monies to buy eu Yan Sang International 
ltd’s shares, this report is forwarded to them at the request of the CpF approved 
nominees and is sent solely For InForMatIon onlY.

2.  this proxy Form is not valid for use by CpF investors and shall be ineffective for 
all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

3.  CpF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an observer must submit their 
requests through their CpF approved nominees within the time frame specified. 
If they also wish to vote, they must submit their voting instructions to the CpF 
approved nominees within the time frame specified to enable them to vote on 
their behalf.



notes:

1.  please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the 
Depository register (as defined in Section 130a of the Companies act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should 
insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the register of Members, you 
should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository register 
and Shares registered in your name in the register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of 
Shares entered against your name in the Depository register and registered in your name in the register of 
Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate 
to all the Shares held by you.

2.  a member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint 
one or two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. a proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3.  Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion 
of his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4.  Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending 
and voting at the Meeting. any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a 
member attends the meeting in person, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit 
any person or persons appointed under the instrument of proxy to the Meeting.

5.  the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company 
at 269a South Bridge road, Singapore 058818 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for 
the Meeting.

6.  the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly 
authorised in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it 
must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter 
or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

7.  a corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such 
person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the 
Companies act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

general:

the Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly 
completed or illegible, or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of 
the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered 
in the Depository register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the 
member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his name in the Depository register 
as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by the Central Depository (pte) 
limited to the Company.




